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The Company issued a Pre-Listing 

Statement on 28 September 2015 

for the purpose of raising capital 

and being listed on the Main 

Board of the Johannesburg Stock 

Exchange (“JSE”). The Company 

raised R1 billion through a private 

placement and obtained a listing 

on 16 October 2015 on the JSE 

in the Non-Equity Investment 

Instrument sector as a Special 

Purpose Acquisition Company 

(“SPAC”).

The primary purpose of the 

Company remains the pursuit 

of investments with growth 

potential, in order to create value 

for shareholders, this objective 

is always dictated by sound 

commercial judgement and good 

corporate governance.

Agreements for the acquisition 

of viable assets, were finalised, 

subject to shareholder approval 

during February 2017. Given 

that suspensive condition, the 

Statement of financial position, 

comprehensive income and 

additional statements and 

disclosures in this Annual Report 

are presented under the same 

SPAC reporting model applied to 

the Annual Report for 2016.

At the special general meeting held 

on 5 May 2017, the viable asset 

acquisitions were approved by 

shareholders and the acquisitions 

became effective immediately 

thereafter. Note 18 of the annual 

financial statements sets out details 

of the viable asset acquisitions as 

required in terms of IFRS.

With effect from 19 June 2017, the 

Company was no longer quoted 

under the JSE lists of Non-Equity 

Investment Instruments but under 

the JSE lists of Software and 

Computer Services as a normal 

listed company on the Main Board 

of the JSE.

Corporate mandate and status
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Michael (Motty) Sacks (74) 
CA(SA), AICPA (Isr)

Chairman

Motty has almost 50 years’ experience as a consultant, advisor and mentor to 
numerous local and foreign companies and executives. He has also held executive 
and non-executive office in various business sectors, including healthcare, financial 
services, technology, education, property and manufacturing. Motty was a co- 
founder of Netcare Limited, having served as its executive Chairman, thereafter as 
non-executive Chairman and non-executive director. Motty was  also a co-founder 
and Chairman of Aplitec Limited (now Net 1) and a co-founder of and mentor 
to serveral BEE Enterprises, including BEE controlled Afrocentric Investment 
Corporation Limited. Motty serves and has served as Chairman and/or director on 
several Boards including, Fedsure Holdings, Federated Employers Mutual, Federated 
General, Saambou Bank Holdings, The Automobile Association, Clinic Holdings, 
Advtech Limited, The International Association of Political Consultants and Adcock 
Ingram.

Directorate
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Michael Pimstein (62)
BComm Acc (Wits)

Joint Chief Executive

Michael has more than 30 years’ experience as a senior executive in the steel, 
engineering and manufacturing sector having served most recently as CEO of 
Macsteel Service Centres SA, a position he held from 1999 through 2013. Michael 
has been and is a member of various government, labour and business committees 
that address industrial policy, growth and development plans, infrastructure 
requirements and investment, labour mediation and wage negotiations. Michael  
is the President and Board Chairman of the Steel and Engineering Industries 
Federation of Southern Africa and served as President of the Southern African 
Stainless Steel Development Association and President of the Association of Steel 
Service Centres. He served on the advisory committee of The Adopt-A-School 
Foundation.

Executive directors

Bradley Sacks (50)
BEconSc (Wits), MBA/JD Hons 

(Duke University School of Business 
and School of Law)

Joint Chief Executive

Bradley has more than 20 years’ experience in the financial services and investment 
business. Bradley is the Managing Partner of Centric Capital Ventures LLC. 
Previously Bradley was Managing Director, Global Head of Technology, Media and 
Telecommunications Mergers & Acquisitions for Bank of America. Bradley was also 
an investment banker with Citigroup, having started his investment banking career 
at Salomon Brothers. Bradley started his professional career as an associate in the 
corporate department of Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson, a law firm based 
in New York. Over the course of his career Bradley has been involved in evaluating, 
advising and investing in strategic and financing transactions with an aggregate 
value exceeding US$100 billion. Bradley is a director of various private companies in 
which Centric Capital Venture LLC has invested, among others, giving him extensive 
experience in the operational management of these portfolio companies.

Alan Salomon (68)
BSc Hons (University of London), 

CA(SA)
Chief Financial Officer

Alan has more than 35 years’ experience as a senior executive in an array of 
financial services and industrial sectors. Most recently Alan served as the CEO 
of Bidvest Bank, a subsidiary of The Bidvest Group Limited, a position he held 
for eight years. In addition to banking and financial services, Alan has also held 
executive management positions in Listed Group Treasury, waste management 
and waste recycling, stationery, packaging, catering equipment, services, property, 
import and export and distribution. He also has extensive experience in a diverse 
range of manufacturing businesses. Other listed company directorships held by 
Alan include executive director of The Bidvest Group Limited (from 1990 to 2012), 
CEO of Afcom Group Limited, non-executive director of Transpaco Limited, non-
executive director of Voltex Limited and non-executive director of EnviroServ.
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Non-executive directors

Bukelwa Bulo (39)
BBusSc, PGDA (UCT), CA(SA)

Bukelwa is a founder and executive director of Jade Capital Partners, a principal 
investment firm with a focus on the property and industrial manufacturing and 
services sectors. She started her career in finance with Investec Limited as part of 
their TOPP programme. Bukelwa soon moved into the Investec Private Equity division 
where she was intimately involved in various investments made by the Group in 
companies in the hospitality, quick service restaurant, industrial services, engineering, 
retail and wholesale sectors. Bukelwa is a director of Netcare Limited and Franki 
Limited Geotechnical Proprietary Limited and is the Chairman of Jade Precast 
Proprietary Limited. Bukelwa is also a Trustee of the Franki Africa Employee and 
Community Trust. Bukelwa completed the Programme for Leadership Development 
at the Harvard Business School.

Jacob Meyer Kahn (78)
BA (Law), MBA, DCom (hc)
Lead Independent Director

Meyer is the former Chairman and Group Managing Director of SABMiller Plc 
having joined the Company in 1966 and retired in 2012. During 1997 to 1999 he was 
seconded full-time to the South African Police Service as its Chief Executive and 
was awarded the South African Police Star for Outstanding Service in 2000. Meyer 
is non-executive Chairman of Netcare Limited. He is a co-founder and non-executive 
director of Afrocentric Investment Holdings Limited. Meyer has served on the boards 
of numerous companies, has been active in various charitable and civic organisations 
and has been recognised with various business and leadership awards over his career.

Dr Daniel (Dan) Matjila (55)
PhD (Wits), MSc (Rhodes), BSc Hons

(Fort Hare)

Dan is a senior leader and respected figure in the investment management industry 
and has substantial expertise and experience as a finance and investment specialist, 
investment risk management specialist and investment strategist. Dan is the Chief 
Executive Officer of Public Investment Corporation (PIC) where he is responsible 
for managing and investing funds for a diversified group of clients. He joined the 
PIC in 2003 as a Risk Manager before being promoted to the position of the Chief 
Investment Officer and executive director in 2005. Dan is also currently a  
non-executive director and Board member at Ecobank Transnational Incorporation, 
SA SME Fund and Daybreak. Prior to joining PIC, he was the Senior Manager 
Quantitative Research Analysis for Stanlib, and before that he worked for Anglo 
American where he was the Senior Manager of Quantitative Research Analysis. Dan 
started his career as a Senior Mathematics lecturer at the University of the North 
and worked in academia for over nine years. Dan holds a Post Graduate Diploma in 
Mathematical Finance from Oxford University, a Post Senior Management Programme 
from the University of Pretoria and an Advanced Management Programme from 
Harvard University.

Directorate (continued)
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Roshan Morar (50)
CA(SA), CFE

Roshan is a Chartered Accountant and the Managing Director of Morar 
Incorporated, Public Accountants and Auditors. Roshan is the non-executive 
chairman of the Airports Company (SOC) Limited, is a non-executive director of the 
South African National Road Agency (SOC) Limited and a non-executive director of 
Harith Fund Managers.

Victor Sekese (51)
BComm (Wits), BAcc (Wits), 

CA(SA)

Victor is the immediate past national Vice-Chairman of the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants. He has also served as the Chairman of the audit 
committee and as a member of the strategy committee of the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants. Victor is active in the accounting profession 
having served on the Board of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants 
for the last 10 years. He is also past National President of the Association for the 
Advancement of Black Accountants.

Victor is the Chief Executive of SizweNtsalubaGobodo, the largest national black- 
owned accounting firm and fifth largest national audit and accounting firm in 
Southern Africa. He has extensive audit and consulting experience in various key 
industries such as transport, logistics, energy and the public sector.

He is a former member of the Assurance and Auditing Standards Committee, a 
committee of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors, which is tasked with 
setting Auditing Standards in South Africa.

Charles Valkin (83)
BComm LLB (Wits), H Dip Tax 

(Wits)

Charles was the most senior partner in Bowman Gilfillan’s Corporate, Commercial 
and Financial Services department. He has extensive experience in M&A and 
financing transactions. Chambers and Partners has ranked him as one of South 
Africa’s foremost corporate/M&A and banking and finance lawyers. Charles has 
been the lead lawyer in some of the largest transactions in which Bowman Gilfillan 
has acted as legal advisors. Charles is currently working on a full-time basis as a 
Special Counsel to Bowman Gilfillan.
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Chairman’s report

It gives me great pleasure to present 
my Chairman’s report on the 
Company’s activities for the year 
ended 31 March 2017. In my Report 
for 2016, I advised, that while the 
Company had not yet acquired a 
viable asset, several opportunities 
had been considered by our 
executive team, but none had satisfied 
all of the Company’s investment 
criteria.

I further reported, that the Board 
had agreed, that acquiring the “right” 
viable asset or assets, took preference 
over acquiring “any” viable asset, 
notwithstanding the timetable within 
which a SPAC is bound to conclude 
an acquisition.

The Company accordingly maintained 
its status as a SPAC for the 2017 
financial year, during which time 
the Company’s assets remained 
investment grade, interest bearing 
cash deposits under the control of the 
Company’s Escrow Agents. The 2017 
financial results therefore reflect the 
gross interest income on those cash 
deposits, deducting therefrom, those 
overhead costs broadly specified in 
the Company’s Pre-Listing Statement. 
In the event, the interest earned for 
the 2017 financial year was optimised 
at R80.2 million (2016: R33.0 million), 
resulting in earnings (before tax and 
acquisition costs) of R75.1 million 
(2016: R30.8 million).

Of greater relevance to shareholders, 
is the information on the viable asset 
acquisitions of three exciting Fintech 
sector enterprises during the year 
under review, revealed under note 18 
of the annual financial statements 
in terms of IFRS 3. I am delighted to 
echo the satisfaction of our Board 
and so many of our shareholders, who 
have provided consistent support for 
our executive team and the Company, 

since our listing, through to the 

announcement of the viable asset 

acquisitions in February 2017, the 

release of the shareholders Circular on 

31 March 2017 and finally the voting 

approvals at the Shareholder General 

Meeting on 5 May 2017.

The aforesaid Circular included 

detailed information on each of 

the three Fintech enterprises 

acquired, the Fintech sectors’ 

growth potential, the excellent 

management in each case and 

the outstanding skills capacity 

within each enterprise. Of equal 

significance, is the nature, profile 

and reputation of each of the 

enterprises’ common blue-chip client 

base, the expanding relationships 

taking place with these Institutions, 

as well as other prospective client 

and partnership relationships 

developing on the continent of Africa. 

Reference is also made regarding the 

reciprocal respect that exists in the 

relationship between the Company 

and its world leading payment device 

supplier. This is a long and trusting 

relationship having a common interest 

in technology transfer and exchange. 

The Group’s collective competencies, 

present an advanced and exciting 

platform of Fintech technologies, 

embracing inter alia, payment 

and transactional proficiencies, 

software design and a wide range 

of specialised product development, 

applications and management 

services.

Given that the closing date for all of 

the acquisitions and final settlements 

was less than eight weeks ago, by 

the time this report is released, 

much of the necessary integration 

processes will likely remain work in 

progress. I look forward, however, 

to reporting in due course on the 

growth and progress of the Group, 

including the nature and extent of 

Group revenues and its consolidated 

operating performance. 
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I would like to specifically 

welcome into the Group, Professor 

Hanoch Neishlos, of African 

Resonance Solutions, a long-standing 

friend and past associate-founder 

with me and others in the constitution 

and listing of Aplitec on the JSE, (now 

Net 1), including its skilled executive 

management. I take this opportunity 

to also welcome the Synthesis 

leadership team into the Group, 

Michael Shapiro, Jake Shepherd, 

Tom Wells, Steyn Basson and its 

management and last, but not 

least, Eitan Neishlos, the CEO of 

Resonance Australia. 

My thanks are extended to the 

executive team, consisting of 

Michael Pimstein, Alan Salomon and 

Bradley Sacks for their operational 

efforts during the year and for 

negotiating and managing the 

legal and regulatory processes 

which resulted in the viable asset 

acquisitions. My sincere appreciation is 

simultaneously extended to the non-

executive directors, for their wisdom, 

their astute judgement and their 

consistently valuable contributions in 

all Group deliberations including the 

finality of the complex and protracted 

viable asset acquisition procedures.

Capital Appreciation Limited is 

no longer regarded as a SPAC, 

it is now governed by the Listings 

Requirements applicable to all Main 

Board companies on the JSE and 

its trading statistics can now be 

found under the JSE List, captioned 

“Software and Computer Services”.

Kindest regards

Motty Sacks
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Viable asset acquisition

Capital Appreciation was initially 

constituted to pursue the acquisition 

of companies with good growth 

potential that could benefit from our 

experience, capital and management 

expertise. After an extensive review, 

Capital Appreciation elected to 

pursue opportunities in the Financial 

Technology (FinTech) sector and in 

February this year announced the 

simlutaneous acquisition of 100% of 

each of African Resonance, Dashpay 

and Synthesis Software Technologies 

and a minority investment into 

Resonance Australia (17.5%). The 

transactions were concluded on 5 May 

2017 and the companies are now part 

of the Capital Appreciation family.

Fintech is a classification used 

to described innovative and 

transformative technologies 

disrupting traditional banking and 

financial services. These changes 

are extremely evident in the 

payment sector, affecting, inter 

alia, relationships between financial 

institutions and their consumer 

clients, financial institutions and their 

corporate retailer clients, retailers and 

their consumer customers and among 

consumers themselves. There are also 

requirements for financial institutions 

to enhance regulatory compliance 

while simultaneously reducing their 

costs of delivery. These are huge 

market forces, the consequences of 

which are visible in the economy as 

a whole. These forces are expected 

to intensify and the changes they 

precipitate expected to accelerate. 

Traditional financial and banking 

institutions are rapidly embracing 

the idea of Fintech recognising that 

Fintech presents an opportunity 

to reduce cost, enhance customer 

experience and drive revenue and 

that their businesses are otherwise 

vulnerable as the digital economy 

changes customer behaviour.

 Payment 
Solutions 
Within the FinTech sector there 

are several sub-sectors, which 

include, inter alia, “Payments and 

Payment Infrastructure”. Payments 

and Payment Infrastructure is a 

large and growing part of global 

economies. This is equally relevant 

in South Africa and increasingly 

so across the African continent. 

Factors driving this growth are 

being stimulated by mobile 

communications, growing consumer 

interest in and exposure to the 

benefits of digital currency, and 

a growing choice of applications, 

including:

• Increasing Adoption of and 
Comfort with Card-Based and 
Digital Currency – There is an 

increasing consumer comfort with 

digital currency and the seamless 

experience in new forms of 

payment delivery (including card-

based payments). In Emerging 

Markets, there is increasing 

focus on financial inclusion 

and the promise of more cost-

effective services brought 

about through technology. 

With increasing consumer 

acceptance, Governments 

recognise that electronic 

payments reduce corruption, 

increase accountability, boost 

financial inclusion, reduce 

fraud and enhance security. 

The secular shift away from the 

use of cash has grown  

and continues to accelerate.

• Changes in Consumer Behaviour 
– Increasing “mobile-first” habits, 
the willingness of consumers to 
share personal experiences and 
data, and the desire for highly 
curated information characterises 
an increasingly larger portion 
of consumers. This is driving 
consumers to demand more 
from the institutions with whom 
they interact and on whom they 
rely for financial transactions. 
Consumers have increased 
expectations of immediate and 
more bespoke experiences.

• Changes in Retailer 
Requirements – Retailers  

and other market participants 

are seeking more direct and 

individualised relationships 

with their customers/patrons. 

Big data and multichannel 

retailing are driving retailers to 

seek more tailored, cost-effective 

solutions to enhance their 

customer experiences.

• Regulation and Security 
Concerns – Regulation and 

threats to security continue 

to drive payment infrastructure 

participants to refresh 

their systems with more 

security and more protective 

technology platforms.

African Resonance and Dashpay, on 
behalf of and in association with their 
institutional clients, are well positioned 
to (i) respond to changing market 
and institutional clients’ end-market 
customer needs, (ii) help clients to 
expand the applicability and versatility 
of electronic and card payments, 
(iii) innovate, and (iv) deliver cost-
effective solutions to institutional 

clients and others in South Africa  

and across the rest of Africa.
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AFRICAN RESONANCE BUSINESS 
SOLUTIONS (PROPRIETARY) 
LIMITED

African Resonance is a leading 

provider of payment infrastructure 

and related services to established 

financial institutions, emerging 

payment service providers, the 

hospitality industry and retail 

operators. African Resonance designs, 

develops and implements end-to-end 

solutions, including full service device 

fleet management, to its institutional 

clients and corporate customers. 

African Resonance supplies electronic 

point-of-sale and like devices, and 

provides merchants with a single 

device capable of providing both 

banking and non-banking products 

and services. Over a period of 14 years 

African Resonance has evolved into 

a well-established, reputable and 

progressive company with  

an impressive range of customer 

and supplier relationships, a skilled 

and motivated team of employees 

and established operating processes. 

This is supported by access to a 

sophisticated and strategically 

valuable technology platform utilised 

to offer their institutional clients 

secure, cost-effective, market-leading 

customer service levels and innovative 

products and solutions in the South 

African payments market.

Established Blue Chip and Emerging 
Customer Base – Since its formation, 

African Resonance has concluded 

supply and service arrangements 

with most of the leading retail 

banks in South Africa, for the supply 

of payment related equipment 

and services. Collectively these 

institutions account for the vast 

majority of payments processed in 

retail environments in South Africa. 

African Resonance has also concluded 

relationships with other smaller 

financial institutions, the hospitality 

industry and other participants in the 

payments value chain.

Established Relationship with 
Leading, World Class Suppliers – 

African Resonance has an established 

and long-standing relationship with 

the leading manufacturer and supplier 

of payment devices. Ingenico Group, 

based in France, is the world’s leading 

manufacturer of payment terminals 

and a provider of seamless payment 

solutions. African Resonance is 

regarded and recognised as a centre 

of excellence for Ingenico, both as 

distributor and through its skilled 

customer service and maintenance 

capacity.

Exclusive Access to Proprietary 
Technology – African Resonance has 

invested heavily in its technology 

platforms and has the exclusive right 

to use a suite of infrastructure and 

terminal fleet enterprise management 

solutions in South Africa. Forming part 

of the African Resonance Acquisition, 

these exclusive rights have been 

expanded to cover the provision 

of services throughout Africa. 

These technologies allow African 

Resonance to manage, within a single 

workflow management platform, a 

terminal estate business covering 

remote merchant management, 

contract management, workflow 

management, asset management, call 

centre logging, problem resolution 

management, SLA management, 

terminal despatch and activation of 

banking and non-banking products.

Web: www.africanresonance.com
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DASHPAY (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED

Dashpay was initially conceived 

as a traditional merchant acquirer 

when first established in 2013. Since 

that time a significant amount has 

been invested in the development of 

Dashpay’s systems and technology, 

with further resources being allocated 

to complete its multi-product 

transacting platform, essentially 

for the facilitation of Business-to-

Business payment-related products 

in conjunction with its institutional 

client base. Dashpay presently 

operates within the South African 

national payments infrastructure, 

continually broadening its market 

reach, while concurrently establishing 

and securing the transaction 

capacity of its technology platforms. 

Dashpay services are ideally suited 

to serving the rapidly changing 

needs for secure payment systems, 

and financial management across 

Africa. CAPPREC recognises the 

high demand and potential growth in 

those destinations.

Viable asset acquisition (continued)

Traditional financial institutions and 

financial services companies, often 

constrained by legacy systems 

and platforms, have for various 

reasons struggled to respond to 

changing customer needs or provide- 

innovative payment-related services 

to non-traditional merchants, be 

they retailers, wholesalers, other 

independent vendors, and more 

particularly SMMEs. 

Dashpay’s technology platforms 

are adaptable and compatible with 

electronic point of sales devices 

and state of the art switching and 

processing capabilities. These can be 

offered directly to SMME retailers and 

suppliers to SMME retailers to expand 

this presently underserviced market 

in which electronic payments, secure 

recovery and other financial service 

products, disciplines and controls 

could become helpful and applicable.

The solutions make the concept of 

“universal acquiring”, now globally 

recognised as critical to having 

a successful merchant acquiring 

offering, seamless and cost-effective. 

Universal acquiring (i.e. allowing 

a single device to be used by 

multiple parties to offer multiple 

and differentiated products and 

services) will drive penetration 

among retailers, allow financial and 

banking institutions to offer tailored 

solutions to their clients and should 

materially reduce bank customer 

churn. It is expected that the Dashpay 

solutions and service offerings will be 

formally unveiled during the current 

financial year. 

Web: www.dashpay.co.za

From left to right:  Hanoch Neishlos, Yoav Duek, Tumi Frazier, Donn Engelbrecht, Nicci Redford  
and Christian van der Merwe



A
nnual R

ep
o

rt 20
17

11

Software  
Solutions 
The Financial Services sector 

spends billions of Rands annually 

on technology infrastructure, 

solutions and software. The drivers 

of this spend include a commercial 

imperative to reduce the cost of 

product and service delivery, reduce 

the cost of daily operations, enhance 

the level of regulatory compliance and 

respond to the demands of customers 

for more satisfying experiences.  

Established Financial Services 

providers are also motivated to 

counteract the competitive threats 

posed by new market entrants 

unconstrained by large overhead or 

legacy systems.  

These expenditures have grown by 

double digits in recent years and 

are expected to continue in the 

foreseeable future.

Synthesis has established relationships 

with many of South Africa’s banks and 

other financial institutions (including 

in other emerging and developing 

markets) and is well positioned to 

respond to the demands of their 

clients. 

SYNTHESIS SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS  
(PROPRIETARY) LIMITED

Synthesis, founded in 1997, offers 

highly specialised software 

development, consulting and 

integration services and technology-

based product solutions to banking 

and other financial institutions in 

South Africa and other emerging 

markets. Synthesis’ products and 

services enable clients to perform 

business processing functions, meet 

regulatory requirements, integrate 

with trading platforms and exchanges 

and secure sensitive information.

Synthesis’ development and 

consulting initiatives are responsive 

to the commercial and technology 

imperatives of the institutional 

financial services clients that it serves. 

Executed in close collaboration 

with their clients, the Synthesis 

Digital Channel Initiatives deliver 

an exceptional end-user customer 

experience while maintaining 

information security and transaction 

integrity.

Synthesis is an accredited AWS 

Consulting Partner and Synthesis’ 

“cloud transformation” initiatives 

assist their clients in becoming “cloud 

ready”, to execute mass migrations, 

to harness the benefits of big data 

analytics and to extract the cost 

savings and regulatory benefits of 

compliance. This is an increasing 

priority for financial services 

institutions across Africa.

Synthesis’ product solutions for banks 

and financial services institutions 

include online banking solutions and 

regulatory reporting solutions for 

both SARS (tax) and SARB (balance 

of payments). There is an increasing 

regulatory and reporting burden 

being imposed on financial institutions 

in the banking, insurance and 

securities industries. Banks and other 

providers of consumer facing financial 

services are increasingly investing 

in systems and service offerings to 

respond to ever more demanding 

customer needs. This presents a 

compelling growth opportunity for 

Synthesis. These products also have 

global application and have led to 

international expansion opportunities 

for Synthesis.

Web: www.synthesis.co.za

From left to right:  Jake Shepherd, Michael Shapiro, Tom Wells 
and Steyn Basson
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Broad-Based Black Economic 

Empowerment (“B-BBEE”) continues 

to be a guiding imperative to 

the status and character of the 

Company. Apart from certain black 

controlled corporate and institutional 

investors, including black individual 

shareholders, the Company 

purposely constituted two additional 

empowerment structures, details of 

which are summarised hereunder.

CAPITAL APPRECIATION 
EMPOWERMENT TRUST (“CAET”)

This Trust was specifically created by 

the Company for the recognition and 

benefit of black individuals and other 

historically disadvantaged South 

Africans. CAET holds 75 million shares 

in the Company at the date of this 

report representing 6% of the total 

shares in issue.

THE CAPITAL APPRECIATION 67 
SCHEME 

As part of the Company’s 

commitment to black economic 

empowerment, the Company and 

the Student Support Programme 

(“SSP”), a non-profit trust, have 

created the SSP Capital Appreciation 

67 Entrepreneurial Scheme (the 

“Capital Appreciation 67 Scheme”).

The motivation behind the Capital 

Appreciation 67 Scheme is to 

recognise the achievements of SSP’s 

alumni for their academic excellence 

by creating an entrepreneurial fund 

which will be used to fund 67 business 

ventures to be started and/or 

operated by SSP alumni.

Broad-Based Black 
Economic Empowerment

The Capital Appreciation 67 Scheme 

holds 6.7 million shares in the 

Company and has been generously 

supported by Absa Bank. 

INDEPENDENT BEE OWNERSHIP 
ANALYSIS

During the financial year a BEE 

Ownership Analysis was performed 

on the Company, using the Inclusion 

and Flow Through Principles.  

The total number of redeemable 

ordinary shares in issue throughout 

the financial year was 1,250,000,000. 

Effective BEE shareholding in the 

Company (Economic Interest) at 

31 March 2017 was 35.86%.

Effective BEE shareholding in the 

Company (Voting Rights) at 31 March 

2017 was 48.84%.

Subsequent to year-end and post 

the shareholders’ approval of the 

acquisitions of the viable assets at the 

shareholders’ meeting on 5 May 2017, 

305,000,000 shares were issued as 

part of the purchase consideration 

for the three companies acquired. 

A new BEE ownership analysis was 

performed post the acquisitions, 

utilising the increased number of 

ordinary shares in issue, totalling 

1,555,000,000.

Effective BEE shareholding in the 

Company (Economic Interest) at 

5 May 2017 was 31.40%.

Effective BEE shareholding in the 

Company (Voting Rights) at 5 May 

2017 was 39.13%.
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Corporate Governance  
and the King III Code

1. THE BOARD

Considerable thought is given to 

Board balance and composition. 

Collectively, the Board believes 

the current mix of knowledge,

skill and experience meets 

the requirements to lead the 

Company effectively. The Board 

has 10 directors, comprising 

seven non-executive directors 

and three executive directors.

Of the seven non-executive 

directors, four are independent. 

No individual director has 

unfettered powers of decision- 

making.

The names and capacity of each director are set out below: 

Name Capacity

Michael Pimstein Joint Chief Executive Officer

Bradley Sacks Joint Chief Executive Officer

Alan Salomon Chief Financial Officer

Michael (Motty) Sacks Non-executive Chairman

Dr Daniel (Dan) Matjila Non-executive director

Roshan Morar Non-executive director

Bukelwa Bulo Independent non-executive director

Jacob Meyer Kahn Independent non-executive director

Victor Sekese Independent non-executive director

Charles Valkin Independent non-executive director

To ensure a rigorous and 

transparent procedure, any new 

appointment of a director will 

be considered by the Board as a 

whole, on the recommendation 

of the nomination committee.

The selection process will involve 

considering the existing balance 

of skills and experience, and a 

continual process of assessing 

the needs of the Company.

Responsibility for running 

the Board and executive 

responsibility for conducting 

the business of the Company 

are differentiated. M Sacks, a 

non-executive director, is the 

Chairperson of the Board and M 

Pimstein and B Sacks, each an 

executive director, are the joint 

chief executive officers. The role 

of the chairman is, inter alia, 

to lead the Board, ensuring its 

effectiveness and setting its 

agenda. The joint chief executive 

officers lead the executive team 

in running the business of the 

Company. The Company has also 

appointed M Kahn as the lead 

independent director.

A Salomon is the executive 

financial director of the Company. 

Annually, the audit and risk 

committee will evaluate the 

expertise and experience of the 

executive financial director. 

2. BOARD COMMITTEES

2.1 Audit and risk committee

The audit and risk committee 

consists of V Sekese 

(Chairman), C Valkin   

and B Bulo, all of whom will 

meet at least twice a year 

and shall be responsible for 

performing the functions 

required of it in terms 

of section 94(7) of the 

Companies Act, and the 

other functions in terms of its 

mandate.

These functions include: (i) 

nominating and appointing 

the Company’s auditors and 

ensuring that the auditors 

are independent of the 

Company; (ii) determining 

the auditors’ fees and terms 

of engagement; (iii) ensuring 

that the appointment of the 

auditors complies with the 

provisions of the Companies 

Act, and any other relevant 

legislation; (iv) determining, 

from time to time, the nature 

and extent of non-audit 

services to be provided by 

the Company’s auditors 
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and to pre-approve any 

agreement in respect of 

their services; (v) preparing 

a report to be included in 

the Annual Report of the 

Company, in compliance  

with the Companies Act;  

(vi) dealing with any 

complaints (whether 

from within or outside 

the Company) relating to 

accounting practices, internal 

audits of the Company or the 

content of the Company’s 

financial statements and 

related matters; (vii) making 

submissions to the Board 

on any matter concerning 

the Company’s accounting 

policies and financial control; 

and (viii) overseeing the 

Company’s integrated 

reporting process.

The audit and risk committee 

has determined that it is 

satisfied with A Salomon’s 

current expertise, experience 

and performance as the 

Company’s executive 

Financial Director.

2.2 Investment committee

The members of the 

investment committee, 

who must be independent 

non-executive directors, are 

M Kahn (Chairman), B Bulo, 

V Sekese and C Valkin.  

In terms of the JSE listing, 

the first acquisition of 

a viable asset must be 

approved by the members of 

the investment committee, 

prior to the approval by 

an ordinary resolution of 

shareholders at a general 

meeting.

2.3 Nominations and 
remuneration committee

Members of this committee 

are M Kahn (Chairman)  

and R Morar.

2.4 Social and ethics committee

Members of this committee 

are B Bulo (Chairperson), 

R Morar and M Sacks.

3. COMPANY SECRETARY

Horwath Leveton Boner is 

the Company Secretary, duly 

appointed by the Board in 

accordance with the Companies 

Act. The Board considered and 

is satisfied that the Company 

Secretary is properly qualified 

and experienced to competently 

carry out the duties and 

responsibilities of Company 

Secretary and that there is an 

arm’s length relationship between 

itself and the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary will 

be subjected to an annual 

evaluation by the Board wherein 

the Board will satisfy itself as to 

the competence, qualifications 

and experience of the Company 

Secretary.

The Company Secretary 

provides the Board as a whole 

and directors individually with 

guidance on discharging their 

responsibilities. It is also a 

central source of information 

and advises the Board and the 

Company on matters of ethics 

and good corporate governance.

The Company Secretary ensures 

that, in accordance with pertinent 

laws, the proceedings and affairs 

of the Board and its members, 

the Company itself and, where 

appropriate, the owners of 

securities in the Company are 

properly administered. It also 

assists and ensures that the 

Board, individual directors and 

Board committees are evaluated 

annually.

The Company Secretary ensures 

compliance with the JSE 

Listings Requirements and other 

statutory requirements applicable 

to the Company.

4. APPLICATION OF THE  
KING CODE

The Company’s key point of 

reference for its governance 

structures is the King III Code. 

Detailed below is a full report 

which, to the best of the 

knowledge and belief of the 

Board, sets out the extent of the 

Company’s current application of 

the principles of the King Code 

and explains the non-application 

of certain of its principles where 

principles are not fully applied.

Corporate Governance  
and the King III Code (continued)
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COMPLIANCE WITH RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE KING CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Introduction
Given the Company’s present status as a SPAC, certain intended principles hereunder do not practically qualify to be 

rated at level 3 (applied). Consideration for level 3 ratings to lesser rated matters will be given as soon as a viable asset 

has been acquired and needs, demands and circumstances are identified and better known.

Key – Level of compliance

1. Not applied/will not be applied

2. In process/partially applied

3. Applied

Principle
Level of

compliance Comments

1. ETHICAL LEADERSHIP  
AND CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

1.1 The Board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation.

3 Ethics form an integral part of the values of the Company 
and, as such, the Board provides effective leadership based 
on an ethical foundation.

1.2 The Board should ensure that the 
Company is, and is seen to be, a 
responsible corporate citizen.

3 The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company 
protects, enhances and invests in the well-being of the 
economy, society and the environment.

1.3 The Board should ensure that the 
Company’s ethics are managed 
effectively.

3 The social and ethics committee, is responsible for,  
inter alia, the management of the Company’s ethics.

2. BOARD AND DIRECTORS

2.1 The Board should act as the focal 
point for, and custodian of, corporate 
governance.

3 The Board ensures that the Company applies the 
governance principles contained in the King Code and 
continues to further entrench and strengthen recommended 
practices, governance structures, systems, processes and 
procedures.

2.2 The Board should appreciate that 
strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable.

3 The Board approves and monitors the implementation 
of the strategy and business plan of the Company, sets 
objectives, reviews key risks, evaluates performance against 
the background of economic, environmental and social 
issues relevant to the Company and international political 
and economic conditions.

2.3 The Board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation.

3 Ethics form an integral part of the values of the Company 
and, as such, the Board provides effective leadership based 
on an ethical foundation.

2.4 The Board should ensure that the 
Company is, and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen.

3 The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company 
protects, enhances and invests in the well-being of the 
economy, society and the environment.
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Principle
Level of

compliance Comments

2.5 The Board should ensure that the 
Company’s ethics are managed 
effectively.

3 The social and ethics committee, is responsible for, inter 
alia, the management of the Company’s ethics.

2.6 The Board should ensure that the 
Company has an effective and 
independent audit committee.

3 The audit and risk committee has been established,  
and consists of three independent non-executive directors. 
The members of the audit and risk committee have the 
necessary experience and skills.

2.7 The Board should be responsible for 
the governance of risk.

3 The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and 
ensures that the Company has an effective risk management 
system.

2.8 The Board should be responsible 
for information technology (“IT”) 
governance.

3 The Board bears ultimate responsibility for IT governance.

2.9 The Board should ensure that the 
Company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence 
to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards.

3 The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company 
complies with applicable laws and considers adhering to 
non-binding rules, codes and standards.

2.10 The Board should ensure that there 
is an effective risk-based internal 
audit.

2 As the Company only acquired a viable asset on 5 May 2017, 
it has not yet appointed an internal auditor.

An internal auditor will be appointed during the 2018 
financial year. Once an internal auditor has been appointed, 
the Board will ensure that an effective risk-based internal 
audit is performed.

2.11 The Board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
Company’s reputation.

3 The Board appreciates the importance of stakeholders 
and ensures that the Company operates on the basis      
of transparency, best practice disclosure, consistent 
communication and equal and timely dissemination of 
information to all stakeholders.

2.12 The Board should ensure the 
integrity of the Company’s 
Integrated Report.

3 The Board has satisfied itself of the integrity of the 
Company’s Integrated Report.

2.13 The Board should report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
system of internal controls.

2 The Board reports on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
system of internal control. The Company’s audit and risk 
committee provides the Board with assurance on the 
effectiveness of the internal control framework.

An internal auditor will be appointed during the 2018 
financial year, whereafter the Board will report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls 
based on the report of the audit and risk committee and the 
written assessment of the Company’s internal auditor.

Corporate Governance  
and the King III Code (continued)
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Principle
Level of

compliance Comments

2.14 The Board and its directors should 
act in the best interests of the 
Company.

3 In its deliberations, decisions and actions, the Board is 
sensitive to the legitimate interests  and  expectations  of 
the Company’s stakeholders. The Board as a whole acts      
as a steward of the Company and each director acts with 
intellectual honesty and independence of mind in the best 
interests of the Company and its stakeholders.

2.15 The Board should consider business 
rescue proceedings or other 
turnaround mechanisms as soon as 
the Company is financially distressed 
as defined in the Companies Act.

3 The Board is aware of the requirements of the Companies 
Act, regarding business rescue.

2.16 The Board should elect a Chairman 
of the Board who is an independent 
non-executive director. The CEO of 
the Company should also not fulfil 
the role of Chairman of the Board.

3 The Chairman is not the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company. The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer are separate and clearly defined. The Chairman of 
the Board is not an independent non-executive director, 
accordingly a lead independent director has been 
appointed to lead the matter in areas where independence 
is required.

2.17 The Board should appoint the Chief 
Executive Officer and establish a 
framework for the delegation of 
authority.

3 The Board has appointed joint chief executive officers and a 
delegation of authority is in place.

2.18 The Board should comprise a 
balance of power, with a majority of 
non-executive directors. The majority 
of non-executive directors should be 
independent.

3 Considerable thought is given to Board balance and 
composition. The Board has 10 directors, comprising seven 
non-executive directors and three executive directors. Of 
the seven non-executive directors, four are independent.

2.19 Directors should be appointed 
through a formal process.

3 To ensure a rigorous and transparent procedure, any new 
appointment of a director will be considered by the Board 
as a whole, on the recommendation of the nomination 
committee.

The selection process will involve considering the existing 
balance of skills and experience, and a continual process of 
assessing the needs of the Company.

2.20 The induction of and ongoing 
training and development of 
directors should be conducted 
through formal processes.

3 Directors have been inducted to the extent that is 
compatible with the Company’s status as a SPAC which has 
not yet acquired a viable asset. 
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Principle
Level of

compliance Comments

2.21 The Board should be assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced Company Secretary.

3 Horwath Leveton Boner is the Company Secretary, duly 
appointed by the Board in accordance with the Companies 
Act, and the JSE Listings Requirements. The Board is 
satisfied that the Company Secretary is properly qualified 
and experienced to competently carry out the duties and 
responsibilities of Company Secretary.

2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its 
committees and the individual 
directors should be performed  
every year.

3 The performance of the Board as a whole and the Board 
committees individually will be evaluated annually.

2.23 The Board should delegate certain 
functions to well-structured 
committees but without abdicating 
its own responsibilities.

3 These committees will operate in accordance with written 
terms of reference approved by the Board and reviewed 
annually.

2.24 A governance framework should be 
agreed between the Group and its 
subsidiary boards.

3 The governance framework will be implemented by the 
Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable.

2.25 Companies should remunerate 
directors and executives fairly and 
responsibly.

3 The Board will determine the remuneration of directors 
and executives based on recommendations  made  by  
the remuneration committee taking into account market 
conditions, expert advice from remuneration specialists  
and in accordance with the remuneration policy.

2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
director and certain senior 
executives.

3 The Company has disclosed directors’ remuneration in the 
Integrated Report. 

2.27 Shareholders should approve the 
Company’s remuneration policy.

3 The remuneration policy of the executive directors will 
not be subject to approval at the Company’s AGM. 
Remuneration for executives will remain the responsibility of 
the Board remuneration committee and the Board.  
The remuneration of non-executive directors and 
independent  directors  will, however, be subject to 
shareholder approval at the Company’s annual general 
meeting.

3. AUDIT COMMITTEES

3.1 The Board should ensure that the 
Company has an effective and 
independent audit committee.

3 An audit and risk committee has been established. The 
terms of reference of the audit and risk committee have 
been approved by the Board.

3.2 Audit committee members should 
be suitably skilled and experienced 
independent non-executive directors.

3 The audit and risk committee comprises three independent 
non-executive directors, who are suitably skilled and 
experienced. The Chairperson of the Board is not a member 
of the audit and risk committee.

Corporate Governance  
and the King III Code (continued)
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Principle
Level of

compliance Comments

3.3 The audit committee should be 
chaired by an independent non-
executive director.

3 The audit and risk committee is chaired by an independent 
non-executive director.

3.4 The audit committee should oversee 
integrated reporting.

3 In accordance with its terms of reference, the audit and risk 
committee is responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
integrated reporting process.

3.5 The audit committee should ensure 
that a combined assurance model 
is applied to provide a coordinated 
approach to all assurance activities.

2 The audit and risk committee is mandated to ensure that a 
combined assurance model is applied. An internal auditor 
will be appointed during the 2018 financial year.

3.6 The audit committee should satisfy 
itself of the expertise, resources and 
experience of the Company’s finance 
function.

3 The audit and risk committee has satisfied itself of the 
effectiveness of the Chief Financial Officer and has satisfied 
itself of the expertise, resource and experience of the 
Company’s finance function. This will be revaluated formally 
on an annual basis.

3.7 The audit committee should be 
responsible for overseeing of internal 
audit.

2 The audit and risk committee will formulate and monitor 
the Company’s risk management policies, monitor the 
Company’s governance compliance and oversee the scope 
and performance of internal audit. An internal auditor will 
be appointed during the 2018 financial year

3.8 The audit committee should be 
an integral component of the risk 
management process.

3 The audit and risk committee forms an integral component 
of the risk management process. The committee’s terms 
of reference set out its responsibilities in terms of risk 
management.

3.9 The audit committee is responsible 
for recommending the appointment 
of the external auditor and 
overseeing the external audit 
process.

3 The audit and risk committee is responsible for overseeing 
the external audit process, fees and terms of engagement 
of the external auditors and to recommend the same for 
approval to the Board. The committee is responsible for 
determining the nature and extent of non-audit services 
provided by the auditors to the Company.

3.10 The audit committee should report 
to the Board and shareholders on 
how it has discharged its duties.

3 The Chairperson of the audit and risk committee reports to 
the Board after each meeting of the committee. The audit 
and risk committee compiles a written report on how it has 
discharged its duties annually. This report will be included in 
the Integrated Report of the Company.

4. THE GOVERNANCE OF RISK

4.1 The Board should be responsible for 
the governance of risk.

3 The Board bears ultimate responsibility for risk governance.

4.2 The Board should determine the 
levels of risk tolerance.

3 Specific limits are set annually at the risk committee 
meeting which limits are approved by the Board. These 
limits take account of both external and internal risk factors.
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compliance Comments

4.3 The risk committee or audit 
committee should assist the Board in 
carrying out its risk responsibilities.

3 The audit and risk committee has been established to assist 
the Board in carrying out its risk responsibilities, oversees 
internal financial controls, fraud risks and IT risks as they 
relate to financial reporting.

4.4 The Board should delegate to 
management the responsibility to 
design, implement and monitor the 
risk management plan.

3 Management is accountable to the Board, through the audit 
and risk committee, for embedding the risk management 
process in the business. Day-to-day responsibility for the 
management of the risk management plan will rest with the 
head of risk management.

4.5 The Board should ensure that risk 
assessments are performed on a 
continual basis.

3 The risk assessment process identifies risks and 
opportunities and the process is formalised and regular.

4.6 The Board should ensure that 
frameworks and methodologies 
are implemented to increase 
the probability of anticipating 
unpredictable risks.

3 The audit and risk committee provides assistance to the 
Board for the implementation of these frameworks and 
methodologies.

4.7 The Board should ensure that 
management considers and 
implements appropriate risk 
responses.

3 The Board ensures implementation of controls, existing  
and new, are monitored on an ongoing basis.

4.8 The Board should ensure continual 
risk monitoring by management.

3 There is continual risk monitoring and the process is 
monitored by management.

4.9 The Board should receive assurance 
regarding the effectiveness of the 
risk management process.

2 It is intended that an internal auditor will be appointed 
during the 2018 financial year. The internal auditor (once 
appointed) will provide assurance to the Board in respect of 
the risk management processes.

4.10 The Board should ensure that there 
are processes in place enabling 
complete, timely, relevant, accurate 
and accessible risk disclosure to 
stakeholders.

2 As the company only acquired a viable asset on 5 May 2017, 
the top risks will be determined during the 2018 financial 
year.

5. THE GOVERNANCE OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

5.1 The Board should be responsible for 
IT governance.

3 The Board bears ultimate responsibility for IT governance.

5.2 IT should be aligned with the 
performance and sustainability 
objectives of the Company.

2 IT will be fully integrated into the strategic planning process 
ensuring strategic, tactical and operational alignment in the 
achievement of business objectives.

Corporate Governance  
and the King III Code (continued)
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Level of

compliance Comments

5.3 The Board should delegate to 
management the responsibility 
for the implementation of an 
IT governance framework.

2 As the Company only acquired a viable asset on 5 May 2017, 
the IT governance framework has not yet been finalised.

Management will be responsible for the implementation of 
the IT governance framework during the 2018 financial year.

5.4 The Board should monitor and 
evaluate significant IT investments 
and expenditure.

3 IT investments and expenditure forms part of the normal 
budgeting process, and therefore has to be approved by the 
Board.

5.5 IT should form an integral part of the 
Company’s risk management.

3 IT is considered an integral part of risk management.

5.6 The Board should ensure that 
information assets are managed 
effectively.

3 The audit and risk committee assists the Board in its 
responsibility for ensuring that systems are in place for 
the management of information which includes security, 
information management and privacy.

5.7 A risk committee and audit 
committee should assist the Board in 
carrying out its IT responsibilities.

2 IT will be represented at the audit and risk committee 
and this committee will review key elements of IT practice 
including  IT internal controls and risk management. This 
review will be completed during the 2018 financial year.

6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, CODES, RULES AND STANDARDS

6.1 The Board should ensure that the 
Company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence 
to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards.

3 The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company 
complies with applicable laws and considers adhering to 
non-binding rules, codes and standards.

6.2 The Board and each individual director 
should have a working understanding 
of the effect of the applicable laws, 
rules, codes and standards on the 
Company and its business.

3 Training will be provided to the Board and each individual 
director from time to time as required.

6.3 Compliance risk should form an 
integral part of the Company’s risk 
management process.

3 Compliance is an integral part of the Company’s risk 
management process.

6.4 The Board should delegate to 
management the implementation of 
an effective compliance framework 
and processes.

2 The compliance framework and processes have not yet 
been finalised.

Once an internal auditor has been appointed, the Board 
will ensure that an effective risk-based internal audit 
is performed.  This will be undertaken during the 2018 
financial year.
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7. INTERNAL AUDIT

7.1 Please see comments alongside. 1 As the Company only acquired a viable asset on 5 May 2017, 
it has not yet appointed an internal auditor. 

See comments in 2.10.

8. GOVERNING STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS

8.1 The Board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
Company’s reputation.

3 The Board appreciates the importance of stakeholders 
and ensures that the Company operates on the basis 
of transparency, best practice disclosure, consistent 
communication and equal and timely dissemination of 
information to all stakeholders.

8.2 The Board should delegate to 
management to proactively deal with 
stakeholder relationships.

3 Stakeholder relationships are critical for the Company and 
management is responsible for dealing proactively with 
stakeholder relationships.

8.3 The Board should strive to achieve 
the appropriate balance between its 
various stakeholder groupings, in the 
best interests of the Company.

3 Stakeholders are identified through a wide range of 
channels. Where concerns are legitimate, the Company 
addresses these, listens to suggestions and engages 
honestly.

8.4 Companies should ensure the 
equitable treatment of shareholders.

3 The Company is a strong proponent of transparency, best 
practice disclosure, consistent communication and equal 
and timely dissemination of information to all shareholders 
and the legitimate interests of minority shareholders are 
protected in accordance with the Companies Act, and JSE 
Listings Requirements.

8.5 Transparent and effective 
communication with stakeholders is 
essential for building and maintaining 
their trust and confidence.

3 Communication to stakeholders is the responsibility of 
the executive team and the Company Secretary, and is 
monitored by the Board.

8.6 The Board should ensure disputes 
are resolved as effectively, efficiently 
and expeditiously as possible.

3 The Board ensures that alternative dispute resolution 
provisions are incorporated in agreements. Each dispute 
is handled in accordance with the provisions of the 
governing agreement, the primary objective being to ensure 
that disputes are resolved as effectively, efficiently and 
expeditiously as possible.

9. INTEGRATED REPORTING AND DISCLOSURE

9.1 Please see comments alongside. 2 The Company adheres to the relevant principles contained 
in the King Code relating to integrated reporting and 
disclosure.

As the Company only acquired a viable asset on 5 May 2017, 
the level of compliance herein will be reviewed during the 
2018 financial year

Corporate Governance  
and the King III Code (continued)
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ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2017

Index
The reports and statements set out below comprise 

the annual financial statements presented to share-

holders:

Company Secretary’s certification 24

Audit and risk committee report 25

Directors’ responsibilities and approval 26

Independent auditor’s report 27

Directors’ report 30

Statement of financial position 34

Statement of comprehensive income 35

Statement of changes in equity 36

Statement of cash flows 37

Accounting policies 38

Mr A Salomon CA(SA), Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for this set of financial statements and has 
supervised the preparation thereof in conjunction with the Financial Manager, Ms C Sacharowitz CA(SA). 

Published 14 June 2017
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Company Secretary’s certification

I, the Company Secretary, certify that the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are 

required of a public company, in terms of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, and that all such returns are 

true, correct and up to date.

P Katz   
Horwath Leveton Boner 

Johannesburg 

14 June 2017



A
nnual R

ep
o

rt 20
17

25

Audit and risk committee report

1. MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

  The members of the audit and risk committee are all independent, non-executive directors of the Company  

and include:

Name Qualification
Victor Sekese (Chairman) BComm (Wits), BAcc (Wits), CA(SA)
Bukelwa Bulo BBusSc, PGDA (UCT), CA(SA)
Charles Valkin BComm LLB (Wits), H Dip Tax (Wits)

  The Board is satisfied that the members of the audit and risk committee have the required knowledge and 

experience as set out in section 94(5) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and Regulation 42 of the Companies 

Regulation, 2011.

2. MEETINGS HELD BY THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

  The audit and risk committee performs the duties set out in section 94(7) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, holding 

sufficient scheduled meetings to discharge its duties, subject to a minimum of two meetings per year. Three audit 

and risk committee meetings were held during the year. Unrestricted access is granted to the external auditors.

3. EXTERNAL AUDITOR

  The audit and risk committee has satisfied itself through enquiry that the external auditors are independent as 

defined by the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and as per the standards stipulated by the auditing profession. Requisite 

assurance was sought in terms of the Companies Ac, 71 of 2008 that internal governance processes within the audit 

firm support and demonstrate their claim to independence.

  The audit and risk committee in consultation with executive management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. 

The audit fee for the external audit has been considered and approved taking into consideration such factors as the 

timing of the audit, including scope of the work required.

4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  Following the review of the annual financial statements the audit and risk committee recommend Board approval 

thereof.

On behalf of the audit and risk committee

Victor Sekese
Chairman audit and risk committee

Johannesburg

14 June 2017
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are 

responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this 

report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Company as 

at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act requirements. The external auditors are engaged 

to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 

appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 

the Company and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors 

to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a 

cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 

effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 

are monitored throughout the Company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 

ensuring the Company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach.  

The focus of risk management in the Company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 

of risk across the Company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Company endeavours to minimise it 

by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 

predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that the system of 

internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 

financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Company’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2018 and, in the light of this 

review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Company has or has access to adequate resources to 

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and expressing an opinion on the Company’s financial 

statements. The financial statements have been examined by the Company’s external auditors and their report is 

presented on page 27.

The financial statements set out on pages 30 to 54, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 

by the Board on 14 June 2017 in accordance with section 30(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and were signed on 

their behalf by:

Approval of financial statements

 
Motty Sacks Michael Pimstein 
Chairman Joint Chief Executive Officer

 
Alan Salomon Brad Sacks 
Chief Financial Officer Joint Chief Executive Officer
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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Capital Appreciation Limited

REPORT ON THE THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Capital Appreciation Limited set out on pages 30 to 54, which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in 

equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 

2017, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional 

Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code), the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of Capital 

Appreciation Limited. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code, IESBA Code, and 

in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing the audit of Capital Appreciation Limited. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 

statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ report, the audit and 

risk committee’s report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we 

obtained prior to the date of this report, and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. 

Other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 

to report in this regard. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 

communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent  
auditor’s report (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 

the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the Company audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. We communicate with the directors 

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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Independent  
auditor’s report (continued)

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 

in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Ernst and 

Young Inc. has been the auditor of Capital Appreciation Limited for two years. 

Ernst & Young Inc. 
Director – Lance Ian Neame Tomlinson

Registered Auditor 

Chartered Accountant (SA)

Johannesburg 

14 June 2017
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Directors’ report

1. INTRODUCTION

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

Capital Appreciation Limited issued a Pre-Listing Statement on 28 September 2015 for the purpose of raising capital 

and being listed on the Main Board of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”). The Company raised R1 billion 

through a private placement and obtained a listing on 16 October 2015 on the JSE in the Non-Equity Investment 

Instruments sector as a Special Purpose Acquisition Company (“SPAC”). The primary purpose of a SPAC is to 

conclude an acquisition of a viable asset being an investment in a commercial enterprise with high growth potential. 

Unless and until such viable asset is acquired, the only material asset of a SPAC is the cash it holds pursuant to the 

capital raising/private placement as aforesaid. In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and in this case, such cash 

is held in escrow and invested in interest bearing investment grade securities for the protection of the Company’s 

shareholders. If an acquisition of a viable asset is not concluded within a period of 24 months from the date on which 

the SPAC was listed (16 October 2015), or such later date as the JSE may permit, the SPAC is required to return the 

subscription funds, to shareholders, plus interest earned, less certain permissible expenses and taxation. 

The operating results and state of affairs of the Company are fully set out in the attached financial statements.

2. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 16 February 2017, the Company announced that agreements were concluded, subject to certain conditions 

precedent, to acquire three separate Financial Technology companies (i) African Resonance Solutions Proprietary 

Limited (“African Resonance”) (ii) Rinwell Proprietary Limited (“Rinwell”), the sole shareholder of Dashpay Proprietary 

Limited (“Dashpay”) and (iii) Synthesis Software Technologies Proprietary Limited (“Synthesis”). 

Both the African Resonance and Dashpay Acquisitions qualify as a Category 1 acquisition, as well as a Viable Asset, 

with Synthesis, similarly qualifying as aforesaid. In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a Shareholders Circular 

setting out comprehensive details of each acquisition was distributed on 31 March 2017 for shareholder approval at a 

general meeting. Shareholders approved the required resolutions at the general meeting held on 5 May 2017, with all 

conditions precedent having been fulfilled, and with the Closings (as defined) being completed in all cases within the 

prescribed periods. 

Please refer to note 18 for further detail on the acquisition of the aforementioned viable assets.

Subsequent to year-end and post the shareholders’ approval of the acquisitions of the viable assets at the general 

meeting held on 5 May 2017, the final payments from the Escrow Managed Accounts were made. The Escrow 

Accounts were then closed in accordance with clause 11.2 of the Escrow Agreement.

Post-acquisition of a viable asset, in terms of the Company’s MOI, the redeemable characteristics of the authorised 

and issued share capital ceases to exist and the authorised and issued share capital of the Company becomes 

ordinary shares of no par value.

Post-acquisition of a viable asset, the Industry Classification Benchmark (“ICB”) for the Company will be changed on 

the JSE from ‘Non-Equity Investment Instruments’ to ‘Software and Computer Services’. This classification change will 

become effective from 19 June 2017.

A new company by the name of CAPPREC Management Services Proprietary Limited has been formed post the 

reporting period.
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Directors’ report (continued)

3. REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

Basic and headline earnings per share of 3.14 cents per share (2016: 1.77 cents per share) consists of interest received 

less operating expenses, non-recurring viable acquisition cost and taxation.

Operating expenses were well managed and amounted to approximately R424 000 per month, which is materially 

lower than the R750 000 per month forecasted in the Pre-Listing Statement.

The non-recurring viable acquisition costs (legal fees, due diligence costs, accounting fees, JSE costs, and other 

related costs) amounted to R14.8 million (VAT inclusive) and have been expensed in the income statement and 

included in headline earnings.

At year-end, cash and cash equivalent account balances amounted to R1 048 billion (2016: R 1 008 billion) which 

accounts were strictly managed in terms of the Escrow Agreement. The Escrow Funds which were invested in level  

A1 financial institutions yielded an effective 7.5%.

The Company has sound systems of internal control and segregation of duties and has complied with all governance, 

regulatory and compliance matters during the reporting period. 

4. AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 March 2017, the authorised share capital of the Company comprises 10,000,000,000 redeemable ordinary 

shares of no par value and 4,000 constituent ordinary shares of no par value. The issued share capital of the Company 

compromises 1,250,000,000 redeemable ordinary shares of no par value and 4 constituent ordinary shares of  

no par value. Given the acquisition of the viable assets on 5 May 2017 (see note 18), the company will no longer 

be categorised as a SPAC and accordingly the authorised and issued share capital will no longer be described as 

redeemable but as ordinary shares of no par value.

5. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared or paid during the year (2016: – Nil).

6. MATERIAL RESOLUTIONS

The following resolutions were passed during the year:

 Board resolutions

 — On 2 February 2017, approval of the interim financial statements as at 30 September 2016.

 — On 13 February 2017, approval of the acquisition of African Resonance, Rinwell (Dashpay) and Synthesis, which 

qualify as a Viable Asset.

 — On 22 March 2017, approval of the Circular for the African Resonance, Rinwell (Dashpay) and Synthesis proposed 

transactions.

 Shareholders ordinary resolutions

 — On 17 August 2016, approved of the annual financial statements as at 31 March 2016.

 — On 17 August 2016, re-election of V Sekese, B Bulo and C Valkin as members and V Sekese as Chairman of the audit 

and risk committee.

 — On 17 August 2016, re-appointment of EY Inc. as external auditors of the Company.

 — On 17 August 2016, approval of placement of shares under the control of the directors.

 Shareholders’ special resolutions

 — On 17 August 2016, approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration.
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Directors’ report (continued)

7. DIRECTORATE

The names of the directors and the number of meetings attended by each of the directors up until the date of this 

report, are as follows:

Directors Appointment date Board
Audit and risk 

committee

Non-executive
M Sacks (Chairman) 3 March 2015 4/4
B Bulo 15 September 2015 4/4 3/3
J Kahn 15 September 2015 4/4
Dr D Matjila 15 September 2015 2/4
R Morar 15 September 2015 2/4
V Sekese 15 September 2015 4/4 3/3
C Valkin 15 September 2015 4/4 3/3

Executives

M Pimstein 3 March 2015 4/4

B Sacks 19 March 2015 4/4

A Salomon 3 March 2015 4/4 By invitation 3/3

8. DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING

The individual interests declared by the current directors and officers held in the Company share capital as at 

31 March 2017 are as follows:

2017 2016

Beneficial directors

Number of 
redeemable

ordinary shares

Number of 
constituent 

ordinary shares

Number of 
redeemable

ordinary shares

Number of 
constituent 

ordinary shares
J Kahn 3,600,000 3,600,000
R Morar 100,000 100,000
M Pimstein 55,903,542 1 55,903,542 1
B Sacks 70,833,3331 1 70,833,3331 1
M Sacks 40,973,750 1 40,973,750 1
A Salomon 55,903,542 1 55,903,542 1
C Valkin 250,000 250,000
Total 227,564,167 4 227,564,167 4

1 Held through Centric Capital Ventures LLC.

There were no changes to directors’ interests between the financial year-end and the approval of the Annual Financial 

Statements.
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Directors’ report (continued)

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to directors while in office in the Company during the year ended 31 March 2017:

Non-executive directors
2017

R
2016

R
B Bulo 90 000 20 000
J Kahn 60 000 20 000
Dr D Matjila 20 000 20 000
R Morar 20 000 20 000
M Sacks – –
V Sekese 90 000 20 000
C Valkin 90 000 20 000
Total 370 000 120 000

Until such time as the Company completes an acquisition of a Viable Asset, executive directors will not receive any 

remuneration for services rendered to the Company.

Until such time as the Company has completed an acquisition of a Viable Asset each non-executive director will 

receive R20,000 per directors’ meeting attended for services rendered to the Company, save for M Sacks, who has 

waived such remuneration. 

The audit and risk committee members will receive R15 000 per meeting attended for services rendered to the 

Company until such time as the Company has completed an acquisition of a Viable Asset.

10. DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST IN CONTACTS

During the current and prior financial year no contracts were entered into in which directors and officers of the 

Company had an interest and would significantly affect the business of the Company. The directors have no interest in 

any third party or company responsible for managing any of the business activities of the Company.

11. SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders with a holding greater than 5% in the Company share capital as at 31 March 2017 are as follows;

Non-executive directors
2017

%
2016

%
Government Employees Pension Fund 26.67 26.67
CAET Holdings Proprietary Limited 6.00 6.00
Centric Capital Venture LLC 5.67 5.67

12. SHARE OPTION PLAN

No share options were granted during the current and prior year. 

13. YEAR-END

The Company’s year-end is 31 March.

14. GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.

15. AUDITORS

Ernst & Young Inc. will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008.

16. COMPARATIVE FINANCIALS

The comparative financial data included in these annual financial statements relates to a five-and-a-half-month period 

being from date of commencement of business, 16 October 2015 to 31 March 2016.
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at 31 March 2017

Statement of financial position

Notes
2017

R
2016

R

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 3 211 725 172 685 

  211 725 172 685 

Current assets 

Accounts receivable, interest receivable and prepayments 4 589 232 479 640

Taxation receivable 5 247 229 –

Cash and cash equivalents 6 1 047 788 681 1 008 020 404 

  1 048 625 142 1 008 500 044 

Total assets 1 048 836 867 1 008 672 729 
     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Redeemable ordinary share capital 7 1 000 002 500 1 000 002 500 
Constituent ordinary share capital 7 4 000 000 4 000 000 
Constituent costs – (22 543 311)
Accumulated profit 38 820 070 22 158 579

  1 042 822 570 1 003 617 768

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable 8 6 014 297 4 969 177 

Taxation liability 5 – 85 784

    6 014 297 5 054 961

Total equity and liabilities 1 048 836 867 1 008 672 729 
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for the year ended 31 March 2017

Statement of comprehensive income

 

Notes
2017

R
20161

R

Revenue  9 80 172 952 32 995 626
Operating expenses 10 (5 083 751) (2 214 856) 
Costs associated with acquisition of a Viable Asset (14 774 993) -

Profit before taxation 60 314 208 30 780 770 
Taxation 5 (21 109 406) (8 622 191) 

Profit for the year 39 204 802 22 158 579
Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive profit for the year 39 204 802 22 158 579

Earnings per share (cents) 15
Basic earnings per share 3.14 1.77
Diluted earnings per share 3.14 1.77
Headline earnings per share 3.14 1.77

Redeemable ordinary shares in issue 1,250,000,000 1,250,000,000

1 Refer to note 19.
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for the year ended 31 March 2017

Statement of changes in equity

 

Redeemable
ordinary share

capital
R

Constituent
ordinary share

capital
R

Constituent
costs

R

Accumulated
profit

R
Total equity

R

Issue of ordinary share capital * *

Balance at 1 March 2015 * *
Conversion of ordinary share 
capital to constituent ordinary 
share capital (*) *
Issue of redeemable ordinary 
share capital  1 000 000 000 1 000 000 000 
Issue of founders’ initial ordinary 
share capital 7 500 7 500 
Issue of constituent ordinary share 
capital 4 000 000 4 000 000 
Redemption of founders’ initial 
ordinary share capital (5 000) (5 000)
Redemption of constituent 
ordinary share capital * *
Constituent costs (22 543 311) (22 543 311)
Total comprehensive profit  
for the period 22 158 579  22 158 579
Balance at 31 March 2016 1 000 002 500 4 000 000 (22 543 311)  22 158 579 1 003 617 768 
Total comprehensive profit  
for the year 39 204 802 39 204 802
Transfer of constituent costs to 
accumulated profit 22 543 311 (22 543 311) –

Balance at 31 March 2017 1 000 002 500  4 000 000 – 38 820 070 1 042 822 570

* Less than R1.
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for the year ended 31 March 2017

Statement of cash flows

Note
2017

R
2016

R

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flows (utilised)/generated in operating activities 11 (18 770 820) 2 283 658
Interest income 80 166 500 32 995 626
Tax paid (21 442 419) (8 536 407) 

Net cash from operating activities 39 953 261 26 742 877 

Cash flows from investing activities
Property, plant and equipment 3 (184 984) (181 662) 
     
Net cash used in investing activities   (184 984) (181 662) 

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of redeemable ordinary share capital  1 000 000 000 
Issue of founders’ initial ordinary share capital 2 500 
Issue of constituent ordinary share capital 4 000 000 
Payment of constituent costs (22 543 311)

Net cash from financing activities   981 459 189 

Total cash movement for the year   39 768 277 1 008 020 404 

Total cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1 008 020 404 –

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1 047 788 681 1 008 020 404 
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for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes to the annual financial statements 

Accounting policies
1. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the 

Companies Act, 71 of 2008. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and incorporate 

the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African Rands.

1.1 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the amounts represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the 

application of judgement is used in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 

estimates which may be material to the financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
The useful lives of assets are based on management’s estimation.  Management considers the impact of changes 

in technology, service requirements, availability of capital funding and required return on assets and equity to 

determine the optimum useful life expectation of each individual item of equipment.  The estimation of residual 

values of assets is based on management’s judgement of whether the assets will be sold and what their condition 

will be at that time.

Redeemable ordinary share classification
If the acquisition of a Viable Asset is not completed within a period of 24 months from the date on which the 

SPAC was listed or such later date as the JSE may permit, the SPAC is required to return the subscription funds 

initially invested to shareholders, plus accrued interest, less certain permissible expenses and taxation.

It is the director’s judgement that any decision to invest in a Viable Asset is under their control and as such the 

redeemable ordinary shares are considered to be equity.

1.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Company holds for its own use and which are 

expected to be used for more than one period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic 

benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly 

attributable to the acquisition. Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as 

intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated 

useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s 

economic benefits are consumed by the Company. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that 

the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of office and computer equipment have been assessed as three years. This is depreciated 

using the straight-line method. The useful lives of items of office furniture has been assessed as six years. This is 

depreciated using the straight-line method. 

Impairment tests are performed on office and computer equipment when there is an indicator that they may be 

impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than 

the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the 

carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.
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Notes to the annual financial statements  
(continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

1.3 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the instruments. The Company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition 

as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangement.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the 

initial measurement of the instrument.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 

determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

The Company’s financial assets include accounts receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 

The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable which is classified as financial liabilities at amortised 

cost.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 

have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the Company assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or 

loss, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of financial assets has been 

impaired.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying 

amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying 

amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for 

estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset 

is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 

financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered 

indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 

interest rate computed at initial recognition.

Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at amortised cost.
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Accounting policies (continued)

1.4 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already 

paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised 

as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid 

to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, 

except to the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or

• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items 

that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are 

credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.5 Operating leases

Leases of assets under which the lessor effectively retains all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as 

operating leases. Lease payments arising from operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total 

lease expense.

1.6 Impairment of assets

The Company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 

asset. During the period there were no indicators of impairments.

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised 

in prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 

recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 

periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 

increase.

1.7 Share capital and equity

All shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of the all shares are 

recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects, if applicable.
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1.8 Employee benefits

Short‑term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses), are recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence 
occurs.

The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal 
or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.9 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; 

and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 

obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another 

party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 

be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset.  

The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

1.10 Revenue

Revenue consists of bank interest income which is calculated using the effective interest rate method.

1.11 Related parties (see note 13)

Related parties are entities which have the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 

significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.

Key management is defined as individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the entity. All individuals from the level of executive management up to the Board 

of Directors are regarded as key management per the definition of the standard. Close family members of key 

management personnel are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by key management individuals in their dealings with the entity.

Other related party transactions are also disclosed in terms of the requirements of IAS 24.

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current period, the Company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective  

for the current financial period and that are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

This amendment had no impact on the Company.
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Accounting policies (continued)
2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

These amendments did not have any impact to the Company given that the Company has not used a revenue 

based method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

This amendment did not have any financial or disclosure impact on the Company’s results. 

IFRS 5: Non‑current Assets Held‑for‑Sale and Discontinued Operations – Changes in methods of disposal 
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

This amendment did not have any financial or disclosure impact on the Company’s results. 

IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosure – Servicing contracts 
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

This amendment did not have any financial or disclosure impact on the Company’s results. 

IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosure – Applicability of the offsetting disclosures to condensed interim 
financial statements
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

This amendment did not have any financial or disclosure impact on the Company’s results. 

IAS 19: Employee Benefits – Discount rate: Regional market issue
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

This amendment did not have any financial or disclosure impact on the Company’s results. 

IAS 34: Interim Financial Reporting – Disclosure of information elsewhere in the interim financial report
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

This amendment did not have any financial or disclosure impact on the Company’s results. 

IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure initiative
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
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2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective 

The Company has not applied the following IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet 

effective and will be adopted by the Company when they become effective. These are as follows:

Standard/amendment Applied/effective Impact

IFRS 16 Leases New standard 1 January 2019 The impact of these amendments are still 
being evaluated by the Company.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 The adoption of IFRS 9 will have an effect on 
the classification and measurement of the 
Company's financial assets, but no impact 
on the classification and measurement of the 
Company's financial liabilities.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

1 January 2018 The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the 
new standard on the required effective date.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement 
of Share based Payment Transactions - 
Amendments to IFRS 2 

1 January 2018 The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of IFRS 2 and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date.

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with 
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts - Amendments 
to IFRS 4

1 January 2018 These amendments are not expected to 
have any impact to the Company.

Transfers of Investment Property 
(Amendments to IAS 40)

1 January 2018 These amendments are not expected to 
have any impact to the Company.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency 
Transactions and Advance Consideration

1 January 2018 The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of IFRIC 22 and plans to adopt the 
new standard on the required effective date.

AIP IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
– Deletion of short term exemptions for first-
time adopters

1 January 2018 These amendments are not expected to 
have any impact to the Company.

AIP IAS 28 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures-Clarification that measuring 
investees at fair value through profit or loss is 
an investment-by-investment choice

1 January 2018 The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of AIP IAS 28 and plans to adopt the 
new standard on the required effective date.

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative-Amendments  
to IAS 7

1 January 2017 These amendments are not expected to 
have any impact to the Company.

IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealised Losses-Amendments to IAS 12

1 January 2017 The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of IAS 12 and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date.

AIP IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities-Clarification of the scope of the 
disclosure requirements in IFRS 12

1 January 2017 The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of AIP IFRS 12 and plans to adopt the 
new standard on the required effective date.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2017
Cost

R

Accumulated
depreciation

R
Carrying value

R

Office and IT equipment 205 824 66 667 139 157
Office furniture 74 641 2 073 72 568

Total 280 465 68 740 211 725

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Opening 
balance

R
Additions

R

Loss on assets 
stolen

R
Depreciation

R
Carrying value

R

Office and IT 

Equipment 172 685 110 343 (76 605) (67 266) 139 157
Office 

Furniture – 74 641 – (2 073) 72 568

172 685 184 984 (76 605) (69 339) 211 725

2016
Cost

R

Accumulated
depreciation

R
Carrying value

R

Office and IT equipment 181,662 8,977 172,685

Total 181 662 8 977 172 685

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Opening 
balance

R
Additions

R
Depreciation

R
Carrying value

R

Office and IT equipment – 181 662 8 977 172 685

– 181 662 8 977 172 685

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

2017
R

2016
R

Accounts receivable 157 153 –
Interest receivable# 6 452 216 665
Prepayments 355 627 192 975
Deposits 70 000 70 000

589 232 479 640

Accounts receivable are receivable within 12 months. The imputed interest is deemed to be immaterial. 

# Interest receivable is received within 30-days.
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5. TAXATION

2017
R

2016
R

Opening balance 85 784 –

2016 payment (85 784) –
Current taxation 21 109 406 8 622 191
Provisional taxation paid (21 356 635) (8 536 407)

(247 229) 85 784

The Company’s effective rate of taxation is 35.00% (2016 - 28.01%), due to 

non-deductible expenses of 7.00% (2016 - 0.01%).

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:

Bank balances 2 828 725 1 030 254
Short-term call -  ABSA Bank 501 297 005 6 857 572
Notice deposits – ABSA Bank – 500 000 000
Short-term call – Investec Bank 43 662 951 132 578
Notice deposits – Investec Bank 500 000 000 500 000 000

1 047 788 681 1 008 020 404

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash deposits with banks maturing within three months. These attract interest 

at market-related rates.

R500 million which was held in a 60-day notice deposit account with ABSA Bank matured on 27 February 2017. The 

proceeds from this notice deposit account were invested into a short-term call account accruing interest at period end 

of 6.85% nominal annual compounded monthly (NACM). 

R500 million is held in a 90-day notice deposit account with Investec Bank accruing interest at period end at 7.85% 

nominal annual compounded monthly (NACM). This interest rate is linked to the movement in the prime interest rate. 

The short-term call account accrues interest at period end at 7.1% nominal annual compounded monthly (NACM).
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7. SHARE CAPITAL

2017
Number

2016
Number

Authorised shares
Redeemable ordinary shares of no par value 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000
Constituent ordinary shares of no par value 4,000 4,000

Issued shares
Redeemable ordinary shares of no par value 1,250,000,000 1,250,000,000
Constituent ordinary shares of no par value 4 4

R R
Redeemable ordinary shares of no par value 1 000 002 500 1 000 002 500
Constituent ordinary shares of no par value 4 000 000 4 000 000

1 004 002 500 1 004 002 500

Reconciliation of issued redeemable ordinary shares
Number of issued redeemable ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 1,250,000,000 –
Founders initial ordinary shares issued at date of listing 750,000,000
Subscription for redeemable ordinary shares at date of listing 1,000,000,000
Redemption of founders’ initial ordinary shares (500,000,000)

Number of issued redeemable ordinary shares at the end of the year 1,250,000,000 1,250,000,000

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors.

8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

2017
R

2016
R

Accrued expenses 5 933 993 4 944 825

Leave pay accrual 54 767 –

Amounts owing to Capital Appreciation Empowerment Trust – 11 584

Straight-lining of lease 25 537 12 768

6 014 297 4 969 177

Accrued expenses are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on  

30 to 90-day terms

9. REVENUE

Bank – interest income 80 172 952 32 995 626

Total interest income is calculated and received at the negotiated interest rates with ABSA Bank and Investec Bank on 

cash held on call and notice deposits.
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10. OPERATING EXPENSES

The following items are included within operating expenses: 

2017
R

2016
R

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 69 339 8 977
Directors’ emoluments 370 000 120 000
Operating lease straight-line expense 996 007 331 968
Staff costs 852 670 142 688
Audit fees 422 940 296 400
JSE expenses 303 373 69 611
Escrow fees 174 800 125 400

11. CASH FLOWS UTILISED/(GENERATED) FROM OPERATING OPERATIONS

Profit before taxation 60 314 208 30 780 770
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation 69 339 8 977
Interest received (80 166 500) (32 995 626)
Loss on assets stolen 76 605

Changes in working capital 
Accounts receivable, interest receivable and prepayments (109 592) (479 640)
Accounts payable 1 045 120 4 969 177

(18 770 820) 2 283 658

12. OPERATING LEASES

Minimum lease payments due
Within one year 689 472 983 136
Within 2 – 5 years – 689 472

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Company for its office property. The Company entered 

into a two year fixed term lease together with a renewable two-year option. Rentals are increased at 8% annually.
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13. RELATED PARTIES

13.1. In terms of International Accounting Standards (IAS 24) the Company is obliged to disclose parties that directly 

or indirectly fall within the scope and definition of a Related Party (see definition note 1.11) 

13.2. The Company has established the Capital Appreciation Empowerment Trust (“the Trust”) with the object of 

facilitating economic empowerment of and advancing the interests of Black Persons, by conferring vested 

interests in redeemable ordinary shares held by the Trust. The Trust initially subscribed for 50,000,000 

redeemable ordinary shares and 25,000,000 founders initial ordinary shares. These shares are currently held 

by CAET Holdings Proprietary Limited of which the Trust is a 100% shareholder. The funding for the initial 

subscription was facilitated through facilities granted by CAET Holdings Proprietary Limited. As part of the 

funding structure, Albanta Trading 101 (RF) Proprietary Limited was incorporated and is a 100% shareholder 

of CAET Holdings Proprietary Limited. The Trust is included as a Related Party as the Chairman of the 

Company serves as a Trustee of the Trust. The Trust, CAET Holdings Proprietary Limited and Albanta Trading 

101 Proprietary Limited are indebted to the Company to the sum of R157 154 related to certain administrative 

expenses.

13.3. Given the 26.66% shareholding by the Government Employees Pension Fund in the Company and their 

representation on the Board, their interest is deemed to enable them to exercise significant influence. Significant 

influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the Company. Accordingly, 

the Government Employees Pension Fund fall within the definition of a related-party. 

13.4. In terms of the undertakings by the constituent shareholders set out in the Pre-Listing Statement, the constituent 

shareholders subscribed for 4 constituent ordinary shares in the Company in the amount of R4 million.  

The proceeds thereof were used as a contribution towards the constituent costs. The constituent shareholders, 

B Sacks, M Sacks, M Pimstein and A Salomon consequently and collectively fall within the definition of a  

related-party.

TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS

The transactions with directors have been disclosed in the directors’ report and note 14.

14. DIRECTOR’S EMOLUMENTS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Executive directors received no remuneration for services rendered to the Company during the current and  

prior period. 

The executive directors are also considered to be the key management personnel.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees for services as directors

2017
R

2016
R

B Bulo 90 000 20 000
J Kahn 60 000 20 000
Dr D Matjila 20 000 20 000
R Morar 20 000 20 000
M Sacks – –
V Sekese 90 000 20 000
C Valkin 90 000 20 000

Total 370 000 120 000



A
nnual R

ep
o

rt 20
17

49

Notes to the annual financial statements  
(continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2017

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computation:

2017
R

2016
R

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders (Rand) 39 204 802 22 158 579
Number of redeemable ordinary shares in issue 1,250,000,000 1,250,000,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 3.14 1.77
Headline earnings per share (cents) 3.14 1.77

The following table reflects the income and share data used in the Headline 

earnings per share computation:

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders (Rand) 39 204 802 22 158 579
Loss on assets stolen 76 605
Tax effect of loss on assets stolen (21 449)

Adjusted profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders adjusted 
(Rand)

39 259 958 22 158 579

Number of redeemable ordinary shares in issue 1,250,000,000 1,250,000,000
Headline earnings per share (cents) 3.14 1.77

16. RISK MANAGEMENT

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The share capital is considered to be the capital of the Company. The Company must maintain sufficient financial 

resources, in the opinion of the directors to meet its commitments. The directors monitor the capital of the Company 

to ensure that the Company continues as a going concern whilst ensuring optimal return for the shareholders.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 

to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. The Board provides written principles 

for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as, interest rate risk, credit risk, and 

investment of excess liquidity.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Cash flow interest rate risk arises on cash balances held. The directors have determined that a fluctuation in interest 

rate of 50 basis points is reasonably possible. An increase in 50 basis points in interest rates as at the reporting 

date would have increased the profit before and after tax for the year by approximately R5.1 million and R3.7 million 

respectively (2016: R2.3 million and R1.7 million), a decrease of 50 basis points would have an equal but opposite 

effect. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company fails to maintain adequate levels of financial resources to enable it to 

meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Company could 

be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected or because of any inability to realise assets in order to meet 

obligations as they fall due or is only able to realise assets by suffering financial loss.

The Company’s liquidity risk derives from the need to have sufficient funds available to cover future commitments. 

The Company manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future cash requirements. Cash flow forecasts are 

compared to cash available.

The carrying amount of financial liabilities of R6 014 297 (2016: R5 054 961) represents the Company’s maximum 

exposure to liquidity risk.
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16. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk relates to the secure and unfettered access to and recovery of, cash deposits, cash equivalents and other 

receivables. 

The Escrow Agent monitors the investment of the Company’s funds in escrow in (i) Investment Grade Bonds (being 

debt securities with a rating of “BBB” or above as rated by Standard and Poor’s Corporation or an equivalent rating  

by any similar institution) or (ii) bank deposits with one or more A1 rated recognised banks, in each case as directed 

by the Board.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk. The maximum 

exposure of each class of financial asset are as follows:

2017
R

2016
R

Accounts receivable 233 605 286 665
Cash and cash equivalents 1 047 788 681 1 008 020 404

17. FAIR VALUES

The fair values of the recognised financial instruments are not materially different from the carrying amounts reflected 

in the statement of financial position.

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 

valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 

observable market data.

At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Company had no financial instruments carried at fair value.
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18. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

18.1 Acquisition of African Resonance

The Company acquired 100% of the shares in African Resonance for a purchase price of R485.9 million, with 

R295 million settled in cash and the issue of 230 million shares which have been valued at 83 cents per share 

being the share price on the closing date 5 May 2017. African Resonance is based in Johannesburg South Africa 

and provides a variety of technology solutions, services and related technical support services to financial 

institutions and others in the financial services sector. The acquisition will be accounted for in terms of IFRS 3 – 

Business Combinations.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The preliminary fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of African Resonance as at 5 May 2017, the date 

of acquisition, were:

Fair value 
recognised on 

acquisition
R

Assets
Property, plant and equipment  8 932 671 
Deferred taxation  264 819 
Inventory  15 398 881 
Loan to shareholder  16 396 613 
Trade, other receivables and prepayments  26 404 520 
Other financial assets  10 484 372 
Cash and cash equivalents  40 128 839 

 118 010 715 

Liabilities
Non-current other financial liabilities  3 454 974 
Trade and other payables  9 967 219 
Current other financial liabilities  8 473 713 
Taxation  4 102 053 

 25 997 959 

Total identifiable net assets at fair value  92 012 756 
Goodwill and intangible assets arising on acquisition 393 887 244 

Purchase consideration transferred  485 900 000

Purchase consideration
Cash  295 000 000 
Shares: 230 million at 83 cents per share  190 900 000 

Total  485 900 000 

In terms of IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, management will perform a final purchase price allocation (“PPA”) to 

determine the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. The final PPA exercise will be completed during the 

course of the 2018 financial year.
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18.2 Acquisition of Rinwell

The Company acquired 100% of the shares in Rinwell which is 100% shareholder of Dashpay ("Rinwell Group") 

for a purchase price of R225 million settled in cash. Rinwell Group is based in Johannesburg South Africa and 

provides a variety of technology solutions, services and related technical support services to financial institutions 

and others in the financial services sector. The acquisition will be accounted for in terms of IFRS 3 – Business 

Combinations.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The preliminary fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Rinwell Group as at 5 May 2017, the date of 

acquisition, were:

Fair value 
recognised on 

acquisition
R

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 434 388
Intangible assets 353 676
Trade, other receivables and prepayments 9 208 868
Cash resources 4 339 088

17 336 020

Liabilities
Trade and other payables 5 802 432
Current other financial liabilities 10 484 372
Bank overdraft 17 052

16 303 856

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1 032 164

Goodwill and intangible assets arising on acquisition 223 967 836

Purchase consideration transferred 225 000 000

Purchase consideration
Cash  225 000 000 

In terms of IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, management will perform a final purchase price allocation (“PPA”) to 

determine the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. The final PPA exercise will be completed during the 

course of the 2018 financial year.

The Company granted 15 million shares in respect of a restraint of trade agreement entered into with the owner 

of Rinwell. For the purposes of this information, these 15 million shares are valued at the market price of 83 cents 

per share at the closing date of 5 May 2017 amounting to R12.45 million which will be accounted for in terms of 

IAS 19 and expensed on the day of the award.
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18.3 Acquisition of Synthesis

The Company acquired 100% of the shares in Synthesis for a purchase price of R132.1 million, with R82.3 million 

settled in cash and the issue of 60 million shares which have been valued at 83 cents per share being the share 

price on the closing date of 5 May 2017. Synthesis is based in Johannesburg South Africa and provides a variety 

of technology solutions, services and related technical support services to financial institutions and others in the 

financial services sector. The acquisition will be accounted for in terms of IFRS 3 – Business Combinations.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The preliminary fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Synthesis as at 5 May 2017, the date of 

acquisition, were:

Fair value 
recognised on 

acquisition
R

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 969 502
Investment in associate 980 000
Goodwill 1 294 696
Deferred taxation 525 583
Loan to shareholder 4 153 532
Trade, other receivables and prepayments 22 140 957
Cash and cash equivalents 6 613 473

36 677 743

Liabilities  
Non-current deferred income 8 281 250
Trade and other payables 4 363 601
Taxation 1 483 387
Current portion of deferred income 1 325 000
Current portion of long-term loan 10 132 526

25 585 764

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 11 091 979

Goodwill and intangible assets arising on acquisition 154 071 021

Purchase consideration transferred 165 163 000

Purchase consideration  
Cash 82 300 000
Shares: 60 million at 83 cents per share 49 800 000
Contingent consideration (see below) 33 063 000

Total 165 163 000
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for the year ended 31 March 2017

Should Synthesis achieve its profit warranty, as included in the Acquisition Agreements, the Synthesis shareholders 

will receive R10 million cash and an issue of 30 million shares. The period of the warranty is 37 months. For the 

purposes of the annual financial statements, it has been assumed that the profit warranty targets will be met and 

these 30 million shares are valued at the price of 83 cents per share on the closing date and the cash portion is 

present valued. The Synthesis profit warranty consideration has been included as part of purchase consideration.

Cash: R10 000 000 at present value  8 163 000
Shares: 30 million at 83 cents per share  24 900 000

Total  33 063 000

In terms of IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, management will perform a final purchase price allocation (“PPA”) to 

determine the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. The final PPA exercise will be completed during the 

course of the 2018 financial year.

18.4 Incorporation of a new management company

A new company by the name of CAPPREC Management Services Proprietary Limited has been formed post the 

reporting period. 

18.5 Closure of Escrow Agreement with Bowman Gilfillan Inc.

Subsequent to year-end and post the shareholders’ approval of the acquisitions of the Viable Assets at the 

general meeting held on 5 May 2017, the final payments from the Escrow Managed Accounts were made.  

The Escrow Accounts were then closed in accordance with clause 11.2 of the Escrow Agreement. 

19. COMPARATIVE FINANCIALS 

The comparative financial data included in these interim financial statements relates to a five-and-a-half-month period 

being from date of commencement of business, 16 October 2015 to 31 March 2016. 

20. DIVIDEND 

No dividend was declared during the current and prior period.
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at 31 March 2017

Number of
shareholders

Number of
 shares

Number of
 shares

%

Non-public
Directors of Capital Appreciation Limited 7 227,564,167 18

Sub-total 7 227,564,167 18
Empowerment
Public Investment Corporation 1 333,333,333 27
CAET Holdings Proprietary Limited 1 75,000,000 6
African Rainbow Capital Proprietary Limited 1 50,000,000 4
AKA Capital Holdings Proprietary Limited 1 50,000,000 4
Afrocentric Empowerment Trust 1 10,000,000 1
Capital Appreciation 67 Entrepreneurial Scheme 1 6,700,000 1

Sub-total 6 525,033,333 43
Other institutional shareholders 85 136,367,734 11
Public investors 1 523 361,034,766 28

Sub-total 1 608 497,402,500 39

Total 1 621 1,250,000,000 100

Performance on the JSE
1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017

Trade share prices 

Closing (cents) 87
High (cents) 100
Low (cents) 80

Volume of shares trading during the period 191 901 904

Closing market capitalisation R1 087 500 000

Shareholder analysis
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Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting 

of shareholders of Capital Appreciation Limited 

(the Company) will be held at 14:30 on Thursday, 

10 August 2017 at 1 Vdara, 4th Floor, 41 Rivonia Road, 

Sandhurst, 2196, to consider and, if deemed fit, adopt 

with or without modification, the ordinary and special 

resolutions as set out in this notice of annual general 

meeting and to deal with such other businesses as may 

be dealt with at the annual general meeting.

The Board of Directors of the Company (the Board) has 

determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read 

with section 59 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as 

amended (the Companies Act), the record date for the 

purpose of determining which shareholders are entitled 

to participate in and vote at the annual general meeting 

is Friday, 4 August 2017. Accordingly, the last day to 

trade in the Company’s shares in order to be recorded 

in the register to be entitled to vote will be Tuesday, 

1 August 2017.

Shareholders are advised that in terms of section 

63(1) of the Companies Act, any person attending 

or participating in an annual general meeting of 

shareholders must present reasonably satisfactory 

identification before being entitled to participate 

in and vote at the annual general meeting and the 

person presiding at the annual general meeting must 

be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to 

participate in and vote (whether as shareholder or proxy 

for a shareholder) has been reasonably verified. Forms 

of identification that will be accepted include original 

and valid identity documents, driver’s licences or valid 

passports.

RESOLUTIONS FOR CONSIDERATION AND ADOPTION 
ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS: ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.  ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

Acceptance of annual financial statements
 “RESOLVED THAT the audited annual financial 

statements of the Company for the year ended 

31 March 2017, including the Directors’ report, Audit 

committee’s report and Independent Auditor’s 

report as required in terms of section 30(3)(d) of 

the Companies Act, be and is hereby received and 

accepted.”

Notice of annual general meeting
resolutions

Additional information in relation to ordinary 
resolution number 1
The complete audited annual financial statements 

of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2017, 

including the Directors’ report, Audit committee’s 

report and Independent Auditor’s report are included 

in the Integrated Annual Report on pages 23 to 54 

of which this notice of annual general meeting forms 

part.

The shareholders are advised that the Company’s 

complete audited annual financial statements for 

the year ended 31 March 2017 are available on the 

Company’s website at the following address:

www.capitalappreciation.co.za and will be available 

for a period of no less than 12 months from the date 

of this notice.

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 (COMPRISING 
ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBERS 2.1 TO 2.3, ALL 
INCLUSIVE)

Re‑election of the audit committee members  
and Chairman
“RESOLVED THAT, by way of separate ordinary 

resolutions: 

2.1  V Sekese, be and is hereby re-elected as a 

member and Chairman of the Company’s audit 

committee;

2.2  B Bulo, be and is hereby re-elected as a member 

of the Company’s audit committee; and

2.3  C Valkin, be and is hereby re-elected as a 

member of the Company’s audit committee,

in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, to 

hold office until the next annual general meeting 

of the Company and to perform the duties and 

responsibilities stipulated in section 94(7) of the 

Companies Act and King Report on Governance for 

South Africa 2009 (King III) and to perform such 

other duties and responsibilities as may from time 

to time be delegated by the Board for the Company 

and all of its subsidiary companies.”
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Notice of annual general meeting
resolutions (continued)

Additional information in respect of ordinary 
resolution number 2. 
In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, 

a public company must at each annual general 

meeting elect an audit committee comprising at 

least three members who are directors and who 

meet the criteria of section 94(4) of the Companies 

Act. In terms of Regulation 42 of the Companies 

Act Regulations, 2011, one-third of the members 

of the audit committee must have appropriate 

academic qualifications or  experience in economics, 

law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, 

commerce, industry, public affairs or human 

resources management.

A brief curriculum vitae of each of the Independent 

non-executive directors mentioned in ordinary 

resolution number 2 appears on pages 2 to 5 of the 

Integrated Annual Report of which this notice of 

annual general meeting forms part.

The Board is satisfied that the proposed members 

of the audit committee meet all requirements of 

section 94(4) of the Companies Act, and that they 

are independent according to King III and that they 

possess the required qualifications and experience as 

prescribed in the Companies Act Regulations, 2011.

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

Reappointment of external auditors
“RESOLVED THAT Ernst and Young Inc. (EY) with 

L Tomlinson being the designated auditor, be and is 

hereby reappointed as the external auditors of the 

Company for the financial year ending 31 March 2018 

and to hold office until conclusion of the next annual 

general meeting of the Company, and that their 

remuneration for the financial year ending 31 March 

2018 be determined by the audit committee.”

Additional information in respect of ordinary 
resolution number 3
In accordance with section 90(1) of the Companies 

Act, EY Inc. is proposed to be reappointed as the 

external auditors of the Company, as nominated by 

the Company’s audit committee, until the conclusion 

of the Company’s next annual general meeting. The 

audit committee conducted an assessment of the 

performance and the independence of the external 

auditors and considered whether or not the external 

auditors comply with the requirements of sections 

90(2) and 90(3) of the Companies Act, and section 

22 of the JSE Limited (JSE) Listings Requirements 

and the Board considered and accepted the findings.

The Board is satisfied that the proposed external 

auditors, being EY Inc., and L Tomlinson, the 

individual registered auditor, who will undertake the 

audit of the Company for the financial year ending 

31 March 2018, comply with the relevant provisions of 

the Companies Act, and are duly accredited by the 

JSE.

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4

General authority to issue shares for cash
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the provisions of the 

Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements, and 

the Company’s Memorandum of lncorporation, as 

applicable, the Board be and is hereby authorised, 

by way of general authority, to allot and issue for 

cash any of the Company’s unissued ordinary 

shares (including securities convertible into ordinary 

shares and/or grant options over ordinary shares) 

as and when the Board in its discretion (including 

as to terms and conditions) may deem fit, without 

restriction, provided that:

• the general authority shall be valid until the 

Company’s next annual general meeting of its 

shareholders, or 15 (fifteen) months from the date 

of passing of this ordinary resolution whichever 

period is shorter;

• the allotment and issue of the ordinary shares 

must be made to public shareholders, as such term 

is defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, and 

not to related parties;
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• the number of ordinary shares issued for cash 

in terms of this authority may not exceed 

155,500,000 ordinary shares, being 10% (ten per 

cent) of the number of the listed equity securities 

of the Company as at the date of this notice of 

annual general meeting, provided that: 

 – any ordinary shares issued under this authority 

during the period must be deducted from the 

number above; 

 – in the event of a sub-division or consolidation 

of issued ordinary shares during the period 

contemplated above, the existing authority 

must be adjusted accordingly to represent the 

same allocation ratio;

 – any securities to be issued pursuant to a 

rights issue (announced, irrevocable or fully 

underwritten) or any acquisition issue shall 

not diminish the number of securities that 

are authorised to be issued in terms of this 

resolution;

 – the calculation of the listed ordinary shares is a 

factual assessment of the listed ordinary shares 

as at the date of the notice of annual general 

meeting, excluding treasury shares;

• in determining the price at which an issue of 

ordinary shares may be made in terms of this 

authority, the maximum discount at which the 

ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten per 

cent) of the weighted average traded price of the 

Company’s ordinary shares measured over the 

30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that 

the price of the issue is determined or agreed 

by the directors of the Company and the party 

subscribing for the securities; and

• an announcement giving full details, will be 

published at the time of any issue representing, 

on a cumulative basis within the period of this 

authority, 5% (five per cent) or more of the number 

of ordinary shares in issue prior to that issue, in 

terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

In order for ordinary resolutions numbers 1, 2, and 

3 to be adopted, the resolution is required to be 

supported by more than 50% (fifty per cent) of 

the voting rights exercised on the resolution by 

shareholders present or represented by proxy at 

the meeting. In order for ordinary resolution 4 

to be adopted, the resolution is required to be 

supported by a 75% (seventy-five per cent) majority 

of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by 

shareholders present or represented by proxy at the 

meeting.

5. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

Non‑executive directors’ remuneration
“RESOLVED as a special resolution in terms of 

section 66(9) of the Companies Act, that the 

Company be and is hereby authorised to pay the 

following annual remuneration to its non-executive 

directors for their services as directors for the year 

ending 31 March 2018 (which amounts are exclusive 

of VAT) as well as for the year ended 31 March 

2019, from the date of this annual general meeting, 

unless the non-executive directors’ remuneration 

is amended by way of a special resolution of 

shareholders.

The fees have been determined by the Board 

through the remuneration committee on a market-

related basis and is in accordance with the provisions 

set out below:

Directors remuneration

Fees per 
meeting 
(excluding 
VAT)

Chairman R25 000

Other directors R25 000

Audit, risk and compliance committee

Chairman R20 000

Member R20 000

Until the Company completed an acquisition of a 
viable asset, executive directors did not receive any 
remuneration for services rendered to the Company.
Given the acquisition of viable assets, the amounts 
stated above have been recommended by the Board 
Remuneration Committee and are presented herein for 
approval.

Notice of annual general meeting
resolutions (continued)
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Additional information in respect of special 
resolution number 1
In terms of sections 66(8) and 66(9) of the 

Companies Act, remuneration may only be paid 

to directors for their services as directors in 

accordance with a special resolution approved 

by the shareholders of the Company and if not 

prohibited in terms of the Company’s Memorandum 

of Incorporation. Therefore, the reason for and the 

effect of special resolution number 1 is to approve 

the payment of and the remuneration payable by 

the Company to its non-executive directors for their 

services as directors of the Company in terms of 

section 66 of the Companies Act. The fees payable 

to the non-executive directors are detailed above.

The Remuneration Policy is referred to in the 

Governance Report, the status and detail of which is 

included in the Integrated Annual Report on page 18.

6.  SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

Repurchase of the Company’s ordinary shares.
“RESOLVED as a special resolution that the 

Company, and/or a subsidiary of the Company, be 

and is hereby authorised to repurchase or purchase, 

as the case may be, ordinary shares issued by the 

Company, from any person, upon such terms and 

conditions and in such number as the directors 

of the Company or the subsidiary may from 

time to time determine, subject to the applicable 

requirements of the Company’s Memorandum of 

Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE 

Listings Requirements.”

Additional information in respect of special 
resolution number 2
It is recorded that the Company or any subsidiary 

of the Company may only make a repurchase, or 

purchase, as the case may be, of the ordinary shares 

in the Company subject to the following:

• any repurchase in terms of the above authority 

must be effected through the order book operated 

by the JSE trading system and done without any 

prior understanding or arrangement between the 

Company and the counter party (reported trades 

are prohibited);

• this authority shall only be valid until the 

Company’s next annual general meeting or for 

15 (fifteen) months from the date of the resolution, 

whichever period is shorter;

• a resolution having been passed by the Board 

authorising the repurchase and confirming that 

the Company and its subsidiaries have passed 

the solvency and liquidity test and that from the 

time the test was performed there have been no 

material changes to the financial position of the 

Group; 

• an announcement giving such details as may be 

required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements 

must be published when the Company or its 

subsidiaries have cumulatively repurchased 

3% (three per cent) of the initial number of the 

relevant class of shares, and for each 3% (three per 

cent) in aggregate of the initial number of that 

class acquired thereafter;

• the Company or its subsidiaries may not 

repurchase any of the Company’s ordinary shares 

during a prohibited period as defined in the JSE 

Listings Requirements, unless they have in place 

a repurchase programme where the dates and 

quantities of securities to be traded during the 

relevant period are fixed (not subject to any 

variation) and the Company has submitted the 

repurchase programme to the JSE in writing prior 

to the commencement of a prohibited period. 

The Company will instruct an independent third 

party, which makes its investment decisions in 

relation to the Company’s securities independently 

of, and uninfluenced by, the Company, prior to 

commencement of the prohibited period to 

execute the repurchase programme submitted to 

the JSE; 

• general repurchases in terms of this authority 

may not in the aggregate in any one financial year 

exceed 20% (twenty per cent) of the number 

of ordinary shares in the Company’s issued 

ordinary share capital as at the beginning of the 

financial year, provided that subsidiaries of the 

Company may not at any one time hold more than 

10% (ten per cent) in aggregate of the number of 

issued ordinary shares of the Company in terms of 

the Companies Act;

• at any point in time the Company may only 

appoint one agent to effect any repurchases on 

the Company’s behalf; and

Notice of annual general meeting
resolutions (continued)
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• in determining the price at which ordinary shares 

may be repurchased in terms of this authority, the 

maximum premium permitted will be 10% (ten per 

cent) above the weighted average traded price of 

the ordinary shares as determined over the 5 (five) 

business days immediately prior to the date of 

repurchase. 

Information pertinent to special resolution 
number 2
The directors are of the opinion that it would be 

in the best interests of the Company that special 

resolution number 2 be passed and thereby allow the 

Company or any subsidiary of the Company to be 

in a position to repurchase or purchase, as the case 

may be, the ordinary shares issued by the Company 

through the order book of the JSE, should the 

market conditions and price justify such action.

Should the opportunity arise and should the 

directors deem it to be advantageous to the 

Company, or any of its subsidiaries, to repurchase or 

purchase, as the case may be, such ordinary shares, 

it is considered appropriate that the directors (and 

relevant subsidiaries) be authorised to repurchase 

or purchase, as the case may be, the Company’s 

ordinary shares.

The Board has considered the impact of a 

repurchase or purchase, as the case may be, of up 

to 20% (twenty per cent) of the Company’s ordinary 

shares in issue. 

After considering the effects of such maximum 

contemplated repurchase under the general 

authority, the Directors are of the view that:

• the Company will be able to, in the ordinary 

course of business, pay its debts for a period of 

12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of 

the annual general meeting;

• the assets of the Company will be in excess of 

the liabilities of the Company for a period of 

12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice 

of the annual general meeting. For this purpose, 

the assets and liabilities should be recognised 

and measured in accordance with the accounting 

policies used in the latest audited annual financial 

statements; 

• the share capital and reserves of the Company will 

be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a 

period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the 

notice of the annual general meeting; and

• the working capital of the Company will be 

adequate for ordinary business purposes for a 

period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the 

notice of the annual general meeting. 

For the purpose of considering special resolution 

number 2 and in compliance with paragraph 11.26 

of the JSE Listings Requirements, the following 

information has been included in the annual financial 

statements or the Integrated Report, which this 

notice of the annual general meeting forms part of, 

at the places indicated (i) major shareholders, refer 

to page 33 and (ii) share capital of the Company, 

refer to page 46.

The directors intend, should the proposed authority 

be granted to them under this resolution, to use 

such authority to, at appropriate times, repurchase 

ordinary shares on the open market and thereby 

more efficiently utilise cash on hand.

This authority includes an authority, by special 

resolution, to repurchase, through the JSE’s order 

book, as contemplated in section 48(8)(a) of the 

Companies Act, ordinary shares disposed of by a 

director or prescribed officer of the Company or a 

person related to a director or prescribed officer of 

the Company.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
Resolutions (continued)
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7. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

Financial assistance to subsidiaries and other 
related and interrelated entities.
“RESOLVED THAT, to the extent required by 

the Companies Act, the Board may, subject to 

compliance with the requirements of the Company’s 

Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act, 

and the JSE Listings Requirements, to the extent 

applicable, authorise the Company to provide direct 

or indirect financial assistance, by way of loan, 

guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to 

any of its present or future subsidiaries (wheresoever 

incorporated) and/or any other company or entity 

that is or becomes related or interrelated (as such 

term is defined in section 2 of the Companies Act) 

to the Company, on such terms and conditions as 

they may deem fit, for any purpose or in connection 

with any matter, including, but not limited to, the 

subscription for any option, or any securities issued 

or to be issued by the Company its present or future 

subsidiaries (wheresoever incorporated) or a related 

or interrelated company or entity, to the Company or 

for the purchase of any securities of the Company, 

its present or future subsidiaries (wheresoever 

incorporated) or a related or interrelated company or 

entity to the Company, such authority to endure until 

the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Information pertinent to special resolution number 3 
Notwithstanding the title of section 45 of the 

Companies Act, being “Loans or other financial 

assistance to directors”, on a proper interpretation, 

the body of the section may also apply to financial 

assistance provided by a company to related or 

interrelated companies and entities, including, inter 

alia, its subsidiaries, for any purpose.

Furthermore, section 44 of the Companies Act may 

also apply to the financial assistance so provided by 

a company to related or interrelated companies, in 

the event that the financial assistance is provided 

for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 

subscription of any option, or any securities, issued 

or to be issued by the Company or a related or 

interrelated company or for the purchase of any 

securities of the Company or a related or interrelated 

company.

Both sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act 

provide, inter alia, that the particular financial 

assistance must be provided only pursuant to a 

special resolution of the shareholders, adopted 

within the previous two years, which approved 

such assistance either for the specific recipient, or 

generally for a category of potential recipients, and 

the specific recipient falls within that category and 

the board of directors must be satisfied that:

•  immediately after providing the financial 

assistance, the Company would satisfy the 

solvency and liquidity test; and

• the terms under which the financial assistance is 

proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to 

the Company.

The Company would like the ability to provide 

financial assistance, if necessary, also in other 

circumstances, in accordance with sections 44 

and 45 of the Companies Act. In addition, it 

may be necessary or desirable for the Company 

to provide financial assistance to related or 

interrelated companies and entities to subscribe for 

options or securities or purchase securities. In the 

circumstances and in order to inter alia ensure that 

the Company’s subsidiaries and other related and 

interrelated companies and entities have access 

to financing and/or financial backing from the 

Company, it is necessary to obtain the approval 

of the shareholders as set out in special resolution 

number 3.

The percentage of voting rights required for special 

resolution numbers 1, 2 and 3 to be adopted is 

at least a 75% (seventy-five per cent) majority of 

the voting rights exercised on the resolution by 

shareholders present or represented by proxy at the 

meeting.

MATERIAL CHANGES

There have been no material changes in the affairs 

or the financial position of the Company and its 

subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit 

report and the date of this notice of annual general 

meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors, whose names are given on page 32, 

Note 7 of the Integrated Annual Report collectively 

and individually accept full responsibility for the 

accuracy of the information and certify that to the 

best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts 

that have been omitted which would make any 

statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable 

enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made, 

and that in relation to special resolution 2 in 

particular, all information required by the JSE Listings 

Requirements is contained.

PROXIES

An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote 

at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a 

proxy or proxies to attend and act in his/her stead.  

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  

For the convenience of registered members of the 

Company, a form of proxy is attached hereto.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed 

by those ordinary shareholders who:

• hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or

• are recorded on the sub-register in “own name” 

dematerialised form.

SECURITIES DEPOSITORY PARTICIPANT

Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised 

their ordinary shares through a Central Securities 

Depository participant (CSDP) or broker other than 

with “own name” registration and who wish to attend 

the annual general meeting, must instruct their CSDP 

or broker to provide them with the relevant letter of 

representation to attend the annual general meeting 

in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish 

to attend in person or by proxy, they must provide 

the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions 

in terms of their custody agreement entered into 

between them and the CSDP or broker.

RESOLUTIONS 

Unless you advise your CSDP or broker, in terms 

of your agreement, by the cut-off time stipulated 

therein, that you wish to attend the annual general 

meeting or send a proxy to represent you, your 

CSDP or broker will assume that you do not wish to 

attend the annual general meeting or send a proxy.

VOTING

On a show of hands, every shareholder present 

in person or by proxy, and if a member is a body 

corporate, its representative, will have one vote and, 

on a poll, every shareholder present in person or 

by proxy and, if the person is a body corporate, its 

representative, will have one vote for every share 

held or represented by him/her.

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should 

take in respect of the resolutions provided for in this 

notice, please consult your CSDP, broker, banker, 

attorney, accountant or other professional adviser 

immediately.

LODGEMENT OF FORMS OF PROXY

Forms of proxy should be lodged with the Company 

at its registered address at 1 Vdara, 4th Floor, 

41 Rivonia Road, Sandhurst, 2196 or the Company’s 

transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 

Proprietary Limited, Ground Floor, Rosebank Towers, 

15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 

2196, South Africa, or posted to the Company’s 

transfer secretaries at PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 

2107, South Africa so as to be received by them 

by no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 8 August 2017, 

for administrative purposes. Any shareholder 

who completes and lodges a form of proxy will 

nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person 

at the annual general meeting.

By order of the Board



A
nnual R

ep
o

rt 20
17

For use only by ordinary shareholders who:

•  hold ordinary shares in certificated form (certificated ordinary shareholders); or

•  have dematerialised their ordinary shares (dematerialised ordinary shareholders) and are registered with “own name” 

registration,

at the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held at 1 Vdara, 4th Floor, 41 Rivonia Road, Sandhurst, 

2196, on Thursday, 10 August 2017 at 14:30.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own name” registration who wish to 

attend the annual general meeting must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker of their 

intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter 

of representation to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the 

annual general meeting in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in 

terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders 

must not use this form of proxy.

I/We ___________________________________________________________________________________________________

of (address) _____________________________________________________________________________________________

being the holder(s) of _____________________________________________ Capital Appreciation Limited ordinary shares,

do hereby appoint (see note 2): ___________________________________________________________________________

1.  ______________________________________________of ____________________________________ or failing him/her,

2.  ______________________________________________of ____________________________________ or failing him/her,

3.  the Chairman of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting which will be held for the purpose 

of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any 

adjournment thereof; and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the Capital 

Appreciation ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in accordance with the following instructions (see note 3):

Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1: Acceptance of annual financial statements

Ordinary resolution number 2.1: Re-election of V Sekese as member and Chairman of the 
audit committee

Ordinary resolution number 2.2: Re-election of B Bulo as a member of the audit committee

Ordinary resolution number 2.3: Re-election of C Valkin as a member of the audit committee

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-appointment of external auditors

Ordinary resolution number 4: General authority to issue shares for cash

Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration

Special resolution number 2: Repurchase of the Company’s ordinary shares

Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance to subsidiaries and other related and 

interrelated entities

Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided above how you wish your votes to be cast.

Signed at ___________________________________on __________________________________________________ 2017 

Signature ____________________________  Assisted by (where applicable) _____________________________________

Notes
The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to 
act as a proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow thereafter.

Form of proxy Limited
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Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
(who need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, 
speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the annual 
general meeting.

Summary of shareholders’ rights
In respect of proxy appointments as contained in 
section 58 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended 
(the Companies Act).

Please note that in terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:
This form of proxy must be dated and signed by the 
shareholder appointing the proxy.
•  You may appoint an individual as a proxy, including an 

individual who is not a shareholder of the Company, to 
participate in, speak and vote at a shareholders’ meeting 
on your behalf.

•  Your proxy may delegate his/her authority to act on your 
behalf to another person, subject to any restriction set out 
in this form of proxy.

•  This form of proxy must be delivered to the transfer 
secretaries of the Company, namely Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, before your proxy 
exercises any of your rights as a shareholder at the annual 
general meeting.

•  The appointment of your proxy or proxies will be 
suspended at any time to the extent that you choose to 
act directly and in person in the exercise of any of your 
rights as a shareholder at the annual general meeting.

•  The appointment of your proxy is revocable unless you 
expressly state otherwise in this form of proxy.

•  As the appointment of your proxy is revocable, you 
may revoke the proxy appointment by (i) cancelling it 
in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment 
of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation 
instrument to the proxy and to the Company. Please 
note the revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a 
complete and final cancellation of your proxy’s authority 
to act on your behalf as of the date stated in the 
revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which the 
revocation instrument was delivered to the Company and 
the proxy as aforesaid.

•  If this form of proxy has been delivered to the Company, 
as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice 
that is required by the Companies Act, or the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered by the 
Company to you will be delivered by the Company to 
you or your proxy or proxies, if you have directed the 
Company to do so, in writing and paid any reasonable fee 
charged by the Company for doing so.

•  Your proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from 
exercising, any voting right of yours at the annual general 
meeting, but only as directed by you on this form of proxy.

The appointment of your proxy remains valid only until the 
end of the annual general meeting or any adjournment or 
postponement thereof unless it is revoked by you before then 
on the basis set out above.

1.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be 
indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes 
exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box 
provided. If there is no clear indication as to the voting 
instructions to the proxy, the form of proxy will be deemed 
to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at 
the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect 
of all the shareholders’ votes exercisable thereat.

2.  If no proxy is inserted in the spaces provided, then the 
Chairman shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy 
to vote or abstain as the Chairman deems fit.

3.  A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the 
votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy, but 
the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention 
is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable 
by the shareholder or by his/her proxy. A proxy shall be 
entitled to demand that voting take place on a poll.

4.  In order to be effective, forms of proxy must reach the 
registered address of the Company or the Company’s 
transfer secretaries (as set out below), for administrative 
purposes, no later than 10:00 on Tuesday, 8 August 2017 
being no later than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the 
annual general meeting to be held at 14:30 on Thursday, 
10 August 2017, provided that the Chairman of the annual 
general meeting may, in his discretion, accept proxies that 
have been delivered after the expiry of the aforementioned 
period up and until the time of commencement of the 
annual general meeting.

5.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a 
person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless 
previously recorded by the Company or waived by the 
Chairman of the annual general meeting. CSDPs or 
brokers registered in the Company’s sub-register voting 
on instructions from beneficial owners of shares registered 
in the Company’s sub-register, are requested that they 
identify the beneficial owner in the sub-register on whose 
behalf they are voting and return a copy of the instruction 
from such owner to the Company or to the Company’s 
transfer secretaries, together with this form of proxy.

6.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy 
must be initialled by the signatory/ies, but may not be 
accepted by the Chairman.

7.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian 
unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by the 
Company.

Registered address Transfer secretaries
1 Vdara
4th Floor
41 Rivonia Road
Sandhurst
2196

Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank
Johannesburg
2196

Notes to the form of proxy
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General information
Country of incorporation and domicile Republic of South Africa

Date of incorporation The Company was incorporated as a private company on 3 December 2014 
under the name Firefly Investment 285 Proprietary Limited. On 2 June 2015 
the Company was converted into a public company and changed its name to 
Capital Appreciation Limited.

Registered office 1 Vdara
4th Floor
41 Rivonia Road
Sandhurst
2196

Registration number 2014/253277/06

Tax number 9591281176

JSE share code CTA

ISIN ZAE000208245

FTSE Industrial Classification Benchmark sector Software and Computer Services

Telephone +27 11 994 8600/+27 82 772 2041

Email investor@capitalappreciation.co.za

Website www.capitalappreciation.co.za

Company Secretary Horwath Leveton Boner
3 Sandown Valley Crescent
Sandown
2196

Auditors Ernst & Young Inc.
102 Rivonia Road
Sandton
2196

Financial advisor Macquarie First South Capital Proprietary Limited
The Place
South Building
1 Sandton Drive
Sandton
2196

Legal advisors to the Company Webber Wentzel
90 Rivonia Road
Sandton
2196

Escrow agent Bowman Gilfillan Inc.
165 West Street
Sandton
2196

Sponsor Investec Bank Limited 
100 Grayston Drive
Sandown
Sandton
2196

Transfer secretary Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue 
Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196

Bankers ABSA Bank Limited
Barclays Towers West
7th Floor
15 Troye Street
Johannesburg
2001

Investec Bank Limited
100 Grayston Drive
Sandown
Sandton
2196

Corporate information and advisors
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Notes





www.capitalappreciation.co.za


